Delineating cellular and molecular mechanisms of toxicity of an extract of khat (*Catha edulis* Forsk.) in leukemia and normal peripheral blood cells

Therese Bredholt



Dissertation for the degree philosophiae doctor (PhD) at the University of Bergen

2010

Scientific environment

This work was performed at the Gade Institute, Section for Pathology, and the Institute of Medicine, Hematology Section, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Bergen and was funded by the University of Bergen. Paper II was supported in part by a Helse-Vest grant and Paper III in part by the Norwegian Research Council program in functional genomics.

Acknowledgements

I wish to express my gratitude to my supervisors Anne Christine Johannessen, Olav Karsten Vintermyr and Bjørn Tore Gjertsen for giving me the opportunity to take this PhD. It has truly been some interesting and educational years, which have prepared me for future tasks and challenges, and inspired me to continue within research. I would especially like to thank Bjørn Tore Gjertsen for his never-ending enthusiasm, encouragement and his ability to see what others might not see... at the time.

I would like to thank all my colleagues in the Gjertsen lab, including its previous and present members. You are all very much present and create a productive and lively environment! I would especially like to thank Siv Lise Bedringaas, Lena Fjeldstad Hansen, Ingvild Haaland and Sigrun M. Hjelle for being good and hard-working colleagues! I have really appreciated the support and encouragement from Line Wergeland, who is always helpful and very efficient! Further, I would like to thank my co-authors Lars Herfindal, Elisabeth Ersvær, Hanne Hagland, Kjell O. Fossan, Jørn Skavland, Bjarte S. Erikstein and Karl J. Tronstad. I would also like to thank Stein O. Døskeland and the members of his group, and the members of the Bruserud lab. I have really appreciated my previous and present office 'mates' Malin V. Jonsson, Daniela E. Costea and Joachim H. Dahl and acknowledge them for excellent daily conversations, frequently of non-scientific nature. I am sending thanks and acknowledgements all the way to Kenya to my co-authors and previous colleagues Ochiba M. Lukandu and Elizabeth A.O. Dimba, for the good collaboration we have had on the khat project.

Friends deserve to be thanked for their support and understanding, and for still being around! Finally, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my parents Britt and Hans Bredholt for their support and care, for listening to details regarding my work, and for taking care of lovely Leia.

Bergen, January 2010

Therese Bredholt

Table of contents

Abstract		6		
Sammendra	g	8		
List of pape	rs	10		
Abbreviatio	ns	11		
1. Introducti	on	13		
1.1	Plants in medicine	13		
1.2	Khat (<i>Catha edulis</i> Forsk.) – a natural stimulant	14		
1.3	The natural khat amphetamines	15		
1.4	Chemical composition of khat	16		
1.5	Adverse health effects associated with habitual khat use	17		
1.6	Potential beneficial effects by khat and its constituents	18		
1.7	Toxic effects by khat and underlying mechanisms	19		
1.8	Acute myeloid leukemia cell lines in toxicity studies	21		
1.9	Prognostic factors and therapeutic targets in AML	24		
1.10	Treatment of AML	24		
1.11	Programmed cell death	25		
1.12	Mitochondria in cell death regulation	27		
1.13	Bcl-2 family proteins and programmed cell death	28		
1.14	Induction of death via cell surface receptors	30		
1.15	p53 - stress sensor and tumour suppressor	31		
2. Aims of t	he study	34		
3. Methodol	ogical considerations	35		
3.1	Preparation of an organic khat extract	35		
3.2	Experimental concentrations of khat and its amphetamines	36		
3.3	AML cell lines and normal peripheral blood leukocytes	37		
3.4	Determination of cell death, viability and proliferation	38		
3.5	Determination of protein levels and signaling events	39		
4. Summary	of papers	41		
5. General d	5. General discussion 44			
5.1	Specificity in cell death-induction and genetic aberrations	44		

5.2	Modes of programmed cell death	45
5.3	Potential molecular targets of khat and the khat amphetamines	47
5.4	Modulations of the p53 protein and cytotoxic effects	50
5.5	Cytotoxic khat constituents	51
5.6	Concluding remarks	53
6. Future perspectives		
7. References		

Abstract

Plants have been used in treatment and prevention of diseases for thousands of years. In modern medicine there is a trend towards isolation and identification of bioactive molecules, whereas plant preparations continue to be used in traditional medicinal systems. However, combinations of drugs are usually administered in treatment of complex diseases like cancer and HIV, in order to target multiple deregulated cellular pathways simultaneously.

Khat (*Catha edulis* Forsk.) has been cultivated for centuries primarily due to its use as a natural stimulant. The stimulating potential of khat is mainly caused by its content of cathinone, an alkaloid with structure and pharmacological profile similar to amphetamine. Cathinone is a labile precursor for the less bioactive derivatives cathine and norephedrine. An organic extract of khat was previously reported to induce programmed cell death in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) cell lines, while being less toxic to normal peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs). In this study, cellular and molecular effects of an extract of khat were further elucidated in AML cell lines and compared with the cancer therapeutics camptothecin. Early effects of khat and the khat amphetamines on intracellular signaling responses in normal peripheral leukocytes were investigated, in addition to cytotoxic effects. The khat extract was fractionated and analysed for cytotoxicity in AML cell lines, and the fractions analysed by mass spectrometry.

The khat extract was shown to induce cell death in a subset of genetically diverse AML cell lines, indicating involvement of specific mechanisms. In contrast to camptothecin, khat caused structural damage to mitochondria and mediated impaired mitochondrial respiration. In addition, khat was observed to induce formation of autophagosomes, indicating activation of autophagy. The survival protein Bcl-2 protected against camptothecin, and partial protection was obtained against khat-induced cell death. Procaspase-8 of the receptor-mediated cell death pathway was activated by khat, while levels of the death antagonists Mcl-1 and c-FLIP_L were reduced. The stress sensor and tumour suppressor protein p53 was induced and modulated in khat-mediated death, but not by sub-lethal dilutions of the khat extract or in khat-resistant cells. Experiments using p53 knock-down and knock-out cells demonstrated that khat-mediated cell death was independent of p53. The p53 protein was

suggested to primarily act as a stress sensor in AML cells that were susceptible to khatinduced cell death.

Fractionation of the khat extract and bio-guided screening in AML cell lines resulted in identification of three separate cytotoxic fractions. The khat fractions were analysed by mass spectrometry, which led to the partial characterization of a phenylpropanoid glycoside suggested to represent the major cytotoxic constituent in the khat extract. In contrast to khat, the khat amphetamines were observed to be relatively non-toxic to AML cell lines. Khat and the khat amphetamines were shown to mediate early and generally opposite effects on signaling mediators in normal immune cells. Whereas khat activated stress sensors, like p38 and p53, and demonstrated cytotoxic effects, the khat amphetamines attenuated activating modifications of several signaling proteins, including p53, and appeared to have a stimulating effect on lymphocyte proliferation.

Sammendrag

Planter har blitt brukt i behandling og forebygging av sykdom i tusener av år. I moderne medisin er det vanlig å isolere og identifisere bioaktive substanser, mens plantepreparater fortsatt blir brukt i tradisjonelle medisinske systemer. Kombinasjoner av ulike typer medisin er likevel vanlig ved behandling av sykdommer som kreft og HIV, med den hensikt å ramme flere av de deregulerte cellulære signalveiene som forårsaker sykdom.

Khat (*Catha edulis* Forsk.) har blitt dyrket i århundrer, først og fremst for å bli benyttet som en naturlig stimulant. Den stimulerende effekten skyldes primært khat plantens innhold av katinon, et alkaloid som har lignende struktur og farmakologisk profil som amfetamin. Katinon er en labil forbindelse som blir omdannet til de mindre stimulerende derivatene katin og norefedrin. Et organisk ekstrakt av khat ble tidligere vist å aktivere programmert celledød i akutt myelogen leukemi (AML) cellelinjer, mens det var mindre toksisk for normale perifere blod mononukleære celler (PBMC). I denne studien ble de cellulære og molekylære effektene av et khat ekstrakt videre undersøkt i AML cellelinjer, og sammenlignet med kreftmedisinen camptothecin. Tidlige effekter av khat og khat amfetaminene på intracellulære signaleringsproteiner ble undersøkt i normale leukocytter, i tillegg til cytotoksiske effekter. Khat ekstraktet ble fraksjonert og undersøkt for cytotoksiske effekter i AML cellelinjer, og fraksjonene ble analysert med massespektrometri.

Khat ekstraktet ble vist å indusere celledød i et utvalg av genetisk ulike AML cellelinjer, noe som indikerte aktivering av spesifikke mekanismer. I motsetning til camptothecin førte khat behandling til strukturell skade i mitokondriene, noe som hemmet den mitokondrielle respirasjonen. Videre ble det observert at khat induserte dannelse av autofagosomer, noe som indikerte aktivering av autofagi. Overlevelsesproteinet Bcl-2 beskyttet mot camptothecin, men ga bare delvis beskyttelse mot khat-indusert celledød. Procaspase-8, som er del av den reseptormedierte celledødsveien, ble aktivert av khat, mens nivåene av dødsantagonistene Mcl-1 og c-FLIP_L ble redusert. Stress sensor og tumor suppressor proteinet p53 ble indusert og modulert i khat-mediert død, med ikke av ikke-dødelige khat doser eller i khat-resistente celler. Eksperimenter med p53 knock-out og knock-down celler viste at p53 ikke var nødvendig i khat-mediert celledød. p53 proteinet ble foreslått å fungere primært som en stress sensor i AML celler som var sensitive for khat.

Fraksjonering av khat ekstraktet og testing av fraksjonene for toksisitet i AML cellelinjer, resulterte i identifisering av tre separate cytotoksiske fraksjoner. Khat fraksjonene ble analysert med massespektrometri, og et fenylpropanoid glykosid ble delvis karakterisert og foreslått å være den mest toksiske komponenten i khat ekstraktet. In motsetning til khat ble khat amfetaminene vist å være relativt ikke-toksiske i khat-sensitive AML celler. Khat og khat amfetaminene ble vist å gi hurtige og generelt motsatte effekter på ulike signalerings-proteiner i normale immun celler. Mens khat aktiverte stress proteiner, som p38 og p53, og induserte cytotoksiske effekter, resulterte khat amfetaminene i reduserte nivåer av aktiverende modifikasjoner hos flere signalproteiner, inkludert p53, og ble vist å ha en stimulerende effekt på lymfocytt proliferasjon.

List of papers

Paper I

Therese Bredholt, Elizabeth A.O. Dimba, Hanne R. Hagland, Line Wergeland, Jørn Skavland, Kjell O. Fossan, Karl J. Tronstad, Anne C. Johannessen, Olav K. Vintermyr and Bjørn T. Gjertsen. Camptothecin and khat (Catha edulis Forsk.) induced distinct cell death phenotypes involving modulation of c-FLIP_L, Mcl-1, procaspase-8 and mitochondrial function in acute myeloid leukemia cell lines.

Mol Cancer 2009, 8(1):101

Paper II

Therese Bredholt, Sigrun M. Hjelle, Ingvild Haaland, Line Wergeland, Sjur Huseby, Olav K. Vintermyr, Anne C. Johannessen and Bjørn T. Gjertsen. Modulation of p53 isoforms and its post-translational modifications reflect the cytotoxicity of a botanical khat extract. *Manuscript*

Paper III

*Therese Bredholt, *Elisabeth Ersvær, Bjarte S. Erikstein, Kjell O. Fossan, Anne C. Johannessen, Olav K. Vintermyr, Øystein Bruserud and Bjørn T. Gjertsen. Natural khatderived amphetamines attenuate phosphorylation of AKT, STAT6, CREB and p53 in peripheral leukocytes.

Manuscript

Paper IV

Therese Bredholt, Lars Herfindal, Andrew Marston, Anne C. Johannessen, Bjørn T. Gjertsen and Olav K. Vintermyr. **Bio-guided isolation of a major cytotoxic constituent in khat** *(Catha edulis Forsk.)* unrelated to natural khat amphetamines. *Manuscript*

*Therese Bredholt and Elisabeth Ersvær are equal first authors.

Abbreviations

AIF	apoptosis inducing factor
AML	acute myeloid leukemia
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
Bax	Bcl-2 associated X protein
Bcl-xL	B-cell lymphoma extra long
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma gene 2
BH	Bcl-2 homology
BID	BH3 interacting domain death agonist
Caspase	cysteine aspartate proteinase
CHX	cycloheximide
СРТ	camptothecin
CREB	cAMP response element binding
DISC	death inducing signaling complex
DMSO	dimethylsulphoxide
ERK	extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FLICE	FADD-like IL-1 β -converting enzyme
FLIP	FLICE inhibitory protein
FLT3	fms-like tyrosine kinase 3
GS-MS	gas chromatography-mass spectrometry
HPLC	high pressure liquid chromatography
IM	inner membrane
IMS	inter membrane space
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
Mcl-1	myeloid cell leukemia-1
Mdm2	minute double murine 2
MLL	multiple lineage leukemia
MOMP	mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization
MPT	mitochondrial permeability transition
MS	mass spectrometry
OM	outer membrane

PBMC	peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PFA	paraformaldehyde
PMA	phorbol myristate acetate
PTM	post translational modification
РТР	permeability transition pore
PUMA	p53-upregulated modulator of apoptosis
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RTK	receptor tyrosine kinase
STAT	signal transducer and activator of transcription
TEM	transmission electron microscopy
VDAC	voltage dependent anion channel
WST-1	2-(4-iodophenyl)-3-(4-nitrophenyl)-5-(2,4-
	disulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium monosodium salt

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Plants in medicine

Plants have been used for both medicinal and recreational purposes for thousands of years. Medicinal plants were traditionally used as crude preparations, like teas and powders, in treatment and prevention of diseases. In modern Western medicine the drug discovery process from plants typically involves isolation and characterization of the active component(s) from crude extracts. The concept of isolating bioactive components started with the preparation of the alkaloid morphine from opium in the early 19th century. In Western medicine it is conventional to use single ingredient drugs or combinations of several characterized drugs. The combination therapies are designed to target several pathological pathways simultaneously, thereby increasing treatment efficacy. Combination strategies have proven particularly suited for treatment of infectious diseases like HIV, tuberculosis and malaria, and in therapeutic interventions for complex chronic diseases like cancer and metabolic syndrome (1, 2).

It has been reported that 25% of all drugs prescribed today are derived from plants. Out of many families of secondary metabolites, nitrogen-containing alkaloids have contributed the largest number of drugs to the modern pharmacopeia. Most drugs isolated from plants or that are derivatives thereof are employed in the fight against cancer (1, 2). Anti-cancer drugs from plants in current use can be categorized into four main classes of compounds: vinca alkaloids, epipodophyllotoxins, taxanes and camptothecins (1). The process of drug discovery has been estimated to take an average of 10 years upwards. Drug discovery from plants has traditionally been an even slower process, being inherently more complicated than modern drug discovery techniques. As a result, pharmaceutical companies have been observed to eliminate or scale down their natural product research over the last decades (3).

Today the identification of compounds with therapeutic potentials is typically based on high-throughput screening (HTS) platforms, which in part relies on the use of cell-free bio-assays. However, there has recently been more emphasis on development of cell-based screening techniques. One of the techniques that are being developed and refined is the method of multi-parameter single cell analysis of intracellular signaling pathways (4). The development of technical platforms that enable more efficient identification of novel compounds form natural sources is believed to re-strengthen the interest in natural products as an invaluable source for novel therapeutics.

1.2 Khat (Catha edulis Forsk.) - a natural stimulant

Khat (*Catha edulis* Forsk.) is an evergreen shrub of the Celastraceae family that is cultivated primarily for its use as a natural stimulant. The habit of khat chewing is practised by millions of people, particularly in Yemen, Somalia, Ethiopia, Djibouti and Kenya, representing main regions of cultivation (5, 6). The habit is spreading to other parts of the world, but is mainly confined to immigrant communities from countries where khat chewing is endemic (6, 7). In addition to its use as a social and recreational drug, processed leaves and roots of khat are used in treatment of various conditions like influenza, cough, asthma, malaria, gonorrhoea, vomiting and headache (6, 8).



Figure 1. Bundle of khat on a banana leaf. The banana leaf is wrapped around the bundle in order to keep the leaves and shoots fresh.

Khat chewing is predominantly a social habit, which is practiced in special khat chewing sessions, where different issues are discussed and resolved. Fresh leaves and shoots of khat are chewed slowly and the juice of the material swallowed while the plant residue is retained as a quid on one side of the mouth. About 100-200 g of khat is typically chewed per person in one session, which usually lasts for 3-4 hours, but the amount may vary extensively. Khat induces a mild euphoric state giving the chewer a feeling of being more focused, energetic and communicative. Labourers, farmers and students are known to use khat during work in order to increase alertness and reduce physical fatigue (6, 7).

1.3 The natural khat amphetamines

The stimulating effects of khat are mainly due to its content of the alkaloid S-(-)-cathinone, and to a lesser extent the diastereomers (1S,2S)-(+)-cathine and (1R,2S)-(-)-norephedrine (9, 10). Cathinone is an intermediate in the biosynthesis of cathine and is found mainly in young leaves of the khat plant. Cathinone is also converted to cathine upon wilting of the khat leaves. Khat is therefore consumed when it is fresh and it is primarily the young leaves and shoots that are harvested (9). The price of khat at markets in Ethiopia, Kenya and Yemen have been reported to correlate with the content of cathinone (11).



Figure 2. Structures of the natural khat amphetamines: cathinone, cathine and norephedrine, the synthetic drug amphetamine and the neurotransmitter noradrenaline.

Cathinone is structurally related to the synthetic drug amphetamine and has been shown to have a similar pharmacological profile. Due to this similarity, cathinone has been termed a natural amphetamine and khat an amphetamine-like stimulant (5, 9). Cathinone and amphetamine induce central nervous system and peripheral effects like euphoria, hyperactivity, restlessness, mouth dryness, mydriasis, anorexia, hyperthermia, hypertension and tachycardia (5, 7, 9). The structures of cathinone and amphetamine are related to monoamine neurotransmitters, and the compounds mediate their effects mainly by acting as indirect symphatomimetics (Figure 2). Cathinone and amphetamine induce release of neurotransmitters (i.e. noradrenaline, dopamine and serotonin) from pre-synaptic neuronal terminals and inhibit their reuptake from the synaptic gap (12). Cathinone has also been shown to bind and activate α_2 -adrenergic and 5HT₇ serotonin receptors (13, 14).

The stimulating khat amphetamines are efficiently extracted into saliva during chewing, with only 10% of the compounds remaining in the plant residue (15). The oral buccal mucosa plays a major role in absorption of the khat amphetamines, but some absorption may also occur via the stomach and the small intestine. Maximal blood plasma concentrations of the amphetamines following experimental khat chewing have been measured after 2.3 hours for cathinone, 2.6 hours for cathine and 2.8 hours for norephedrine (15). The khat amphetamines can be detected in urine by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GS-MS), and it has been shown that less than 7% of ingested cathinone is secreted, while norephedrine is found in larger quantities than the amount ingested (16). The ratios of the khat amphetamines reflect the preferred *in vivo* metabolism of cathinone to norephedrine (17). GS-MS has also been used to determine the concentrations of the khat amphetamines in hair from khat chewers, and their concentrations were reported to reflect the level of khat consumption (18, 19).

1.4 Chemical composition of khat

The chemical composition of khat is influenced by local conditions, geographical region and the time of season in which it is grown. In addition, numerous khat variants exist which demonstrate considerable differences in general appearance and stimulating potential (7). An analysis of 22 khat samples demonstrated that 100 g fresh khat on average contains 36 mg cathinone, 120 mg cathine and 8 mg norephedrine (11). However, the concentrations of the khat amphetamines were observed to vary extensively between the different samples.

In addition to the khat amphetamines, khat contains a family of alkaloids with molecular weights in the 600-1,200 range termed cathedulins (20). Liquid

chromatography/mass spectrometry demonstrated the presence of 62 cathedulins in methanol extracts of khat (21). A third group of alkaloids has been isolated from khat grown in the Meru district in Kenya, which include the phenylpentenylamines merucathine, merucathinone and pseudomerucathine. Cathedulines and phenylpentenylamines are not believed to possess significant biological activity (22). The pigmented root-bark contains triterpenoid quinones including celastrol, pristimerin, iguesterin and tingenone (20). Tingenone has also been isolated from khat callus cultures, in addition to 22 β -hydroxytingenone (23). Khat contains polyphenols, where especially tannins have been found to be present in considerable quantities: 7-14% by weight in dried leaves depending on khat cultivate and method of estimation (5). Khat has been shown to contain β -sitosterol and its glycoside derivatives (10), in addition to flavonoids (24, 25), which include myricetin and quercetin glycosides (5). The ascorbic acid content of khat has been reported to be high, with 100 g of fresh leaves containing 130-160 mg (5). Minor constituents of khat not believed to mediate biological effects include β -carotene, thiamine, riboflavin, niacin and calcium (5).

1.5 Adverse health effects associated with habitual khat use

Khat chewing is associated with the development of oral keratotic white lesions within the vestibule or buccal mucosa, where the khat quid is placed (26). A study reported several histopathological changes, but none of the lesions were considered to be premalignant (27). However, several studies have indicated a correlation between the khat habit and development of oral cancer and squamous cell carcinomas of head and neck (28, 29). It has been suggested that khat use, in combination with alcohol and tobacco consumption, represents a potential cause of malignant transformation (30).

Khat chewers experience different gastrointestinal problems like gastritis and constipation, believed to be caused by the astringent nature of khat tannins (5). Khat chewing has been indicated as a risk factor for development of duodenal ulcers (31). The development of haemorrhoids is shown to be significantly associated with the khat habit (32). Khat mediates hypertension and tachycardia, and it has been demonstrated that chewers have an increased risk for acute myocardial infarction (AMI) (33). Cathinone has been shown to cause coronary and aortic vasoconstriction, indicating its involvement in myocardial infarction (34). Amphetamine has also been suggested to increase the incidence of AMI, and was reported after intravenous injection of the drug (35).

A range of adverse health effects associated with khat chewing has been reported, affecting the cardiovascular, gastrointestinal, hepatobiliary, genitourinary, respiratory and central nervous systems. Khat use has also been shown to mediate metabolic, endocrine, ocular and psychiatric effects. The many adverse effects associated with khat use have recently been reviewed elsewhere (6, 8, 36, 37).

1.6 Potential beneficial effects by khat and its constituents

Although khat-chewing is primarily associated with adverse health effects, positive effects of khat and its constituents have been reported. Processed leaves and roots of khat have been used to treat influenza, cough, asthma and other chest problems in areas of cultivation (6, 8). Cathinone was recently shown to inhibit acetylcholine release and contractions of smooth muscle, which could explain the use of khat as a remedy for respiratory diseases (13). Long term exposures of rabbits to khat resulted in lowered cholesterol, glucose and triglyceride concentrations in blood plasma (38). Cathine and norephedrine have been shown to accelerate sperm capacitation and inhibit spontaneous acrosome loss, indicating a beneficial effect on fertility (39). Khat users in Somalia were reported to have increased lymphocyte counts and percentage CD4 positive cells, suggesting a stimulating effect on the immune system (40). Cathinone was shown to mediate IL-2 production, B-lymphocyte proliferation and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte induction (41).

A beneficial impact on oral health has been indicated, as the caries prevalence amongst khat chewers is reported to be low. Recently, khat extracts were shown to inhibit biofilm formation by the principal cariogenic bacterium in humans, Streptococcus mutans, suggesting anti-cariogenic properties (42). In addition, khat extracts were found to possess selective anti-microbial properties, being particularly toxic to periodontal disease-associated bacteria (43). Khat flavonoids have been shown to possess significant anti-inflammatory activity in rats, comparable to the standard anti-inflammatory drug oxyphenbutazone (24). Another study demonstrated that khat flavonoids possessed antioxidant properties for oxidative stress generated during restraint stress in rats (25).

Khat contains vitamin C, which in addition to being an antioxidant has been shown to have anti-cancer effects *in vivo* in a process involving generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (44, 45). Compounds mediating cell death possess a toxic potential, but could also represent promising anti-cancer therapeutics. Callus cultures of khat were reported to contain

the triterpenoids tingenone and 22 β -hydroxytingenone, which demonstrated anti-bacterial activities and mediated cell death in various cancer cell lines (23). Khat also contains the triterpenoid celastrol, which has been shown to possess both anti-inflammatory and anti-leukemic activities (46). Celastrol was recently reported to induce apoptosis in leukemic stem cells, which are implicated in disease relapse (47, 48). The triterpenoid pristimerin has been shown to induce cell death by mitochondrial targeting in breast cancer cells (49), via proteosomal targeting in prostate cancer cells (50), and it has also been shown to inhibit proliferation of leukemic cells (51). An overview of khat constituents and reported beneficial effects is provided in Table 1.

Khat constituent:		Biological effect:	Reference:				
Alk	Alkaloids						
•	cathinone	IL-2 production, B-lymphocyte proliferation, cytotoxic T-	(13, 41)				
		lymphocyte induction, acetylcholine release					
•	cathine	acceleration of sperm capacitation, inhibition of	(39)				
		acrosome loss					
•	norephedrine	acceleration of sperm capacitation, inhibition of	(39)				
		acrosome loss					
Fla	vonoids						
•	myricetin	antioxidant, anti-cancer, anti-inflammatory	(52, 53)				
•	quercetin	antioxidant, anti-inflammatory	(54)				
Phy	Phytosterols						
•	β-sitosterol	lowers blood cholesterol, anti-cancer	(55, 56)				
Sug	Sugar acids						
•	ascorbic acid	antioxidant, anti-cancer	(44, 45)				
Trit	Triterpenoids						
•	celastrol	anti-cancer, anti-inflammatory	(46, 47)				
•	pristimerin	anti-cancer	(49-51)				
•	tingenone	anti-microbial, anti-cancer	(23)				
•	22 β-hydroxytingenone	anti-microbial, anti-cancer	(23)				

Table 1. Compounds found in khat with potential therapeutic effects.

1.7 Toxic effects by khat and underlying mechanisms

Most studies have focused on the pharmacology of khat and the khat amphetamines, whereas relatively few reports have investigated potential cytotoxic effects and underlying mechanisms. Khat and the alkaloid fraction were shown to produce oxidative stress and toxicity in rats by reducing the levels of free radical scavenging enzymes and glucose (25). It

was recently reported that khat inhibited ROS scavenging enzymes in blood serum from human chewers, resulting in significant elevations in free radical loads (57).

Khat has been shown to affect blood formation and cause bone marrow suppression in mice, while reducing the mitotic index of somatic cells and inducing chromosomal aberrations (58). A study using the micronucleus test to evaluate khat-mediated genetic damage in humans reported that khat use, especially in combination with alcohol and tobacco, could be a potential cause of oral malignancy (30). An organic khat extract was shown to induce tumour suppressor proteins and G1 cell cycle arrest in normal oral fibroblasts and keratinocytes *in vitro* (59). When exposed to a higher concentration of khat the oral fibroblasts and keratinocytes underwent programmed cell death in a process involving ROS (60). Khat-mediated cell death in normal oral fibroblasts and keratinocytes was recently reported to involve an early effect on mitochondrial integrity and function (61).

We previously reported that an organic extract of khat induced cell death in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) cell lines *in vitro* (62). Normal peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were shown to be less sensitive to khat toxicity when compared to AML cell lines. The process involved caspase-activation and could be blocked by cycloheximide (CHX), an inhibitor of protein synthesis. Khat-meditated cell death was reduced by treatment with inhibitors of caspase-8, indicating involvement of cell surface death receptors. The khat amphetamines were suggested to be partly responsible for the toxic effects of khat in the HL-60 cell line (62, 63). The studies on AML cell lines and PBMCs suggested that khat could contain compounds with potential as anti-cancer therapeutics, and provided the basis for the work in this thesis. Table 2 provides an overview of toxic effects of khat extracts and suggested underlying mechanisms and/or proposed khat constituents.

Toxic effect by khat:	Biological system:	Mechanism/constituent:	Reference:
induction of cell cycle arrest	primary human oral keratinocytes and	activated p53, p16 and p21	(59)
induction of cell death	fibroblasts primary human oral keratinocytes and fibroblasts	loss of mitochondrial inner transmembrane potential, ROS	(60, 61)
induction of cell death	human acute myeloid leukemia cell lines	caspase-activation	(62)
induction of cell death	human cancer cell lines	due to tingenone and 22 β-hydroxytingenone	(23)
increased ROS	human serum, <i>in vivo</i>	inhibition of ROS scavengers	(57)
increased ROS	rat blood, <i>in vivo</i>	reduced levels of ROS scavengers, due to the alkaloid fraction?	(25)
genetic damage	human buccal and bladder mucosa cells		(30)
genetic damage	mice, in vivo		(58)
anti-bacterial	bacteria	due to tingenone and 22 β-hydroxytingenone	(23)
anti-bacterial	oral bacteria		(43)

Table 2. Toxic effects by khat extracts in various systems and responsible mechanisms or constituents.

1.8 Acute myeloid leukemia cell lines in toxicity studies

Cell lines are frequently used in investigations of compounds with toxic and therapeutic potentials. We previously used AML cell lines when studying cellular and molecular effects of khat extract and the khat amphetamines. In addition to representing a model system for AML, the cell lines represent systems that are easy to maintain and manipulate. Different AML cell lines that are characterized by various genetic defects are commercially available. The genetic aberrations may be used as tools when mechanisms underlying cellular effects are investigated.

AML is a hematological malignancy involving uncontrolled proliferation of myeloid progenitors that harbour a differentiation block (64). An overview of normal hematopoiesis is provided in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Overview of normal hematopoiesis: the generation of mature lineage-specific blood cells from a common hematopoietic stem cell. The figure is from Line Wergeland's PhD thesis, UoB, Bergen, Norway, and is printet with her permission.

A two-hit model for AML development has been proposed, where the genetic aberrations are divided into two complementary groups (65). Class I includes mutations that activate signal transduction pathways, resulting in enhanced proliferation/survival of leukemic progenitors. Class II comprises mutations affecting transcription factors and/or transcriptional co-regulators, resulting in impaired differentiation and escape from apoptosis. An overview of class I and class II mutations is provided in table 3.

Table 3. Overview of complementary class I and class II mutations that cooperate in development of AML. Adapted from (66).

Class I mutations	Class II mutations
BCR-ABL	CBFβ-MYH11
N-RAS	AML1-ETO
K-RAS	TEL-AML1
c-KIT (exon 8)	PML-RARα
c-KIT (Asp816)	NUP98-HOXA9
FLT3 (ITD)	PU.1
FLT3 (Asp 835)	C/CEPa
PTPN11	AML1
NF1	AML1-AMP19
TEL-PDGFRβ	MLL fusion proteins

AML is a heterogeneous disease characterized by non-random genetic defects. Approximately 55% of adult patients display chromosomal trans-localizations and cytogenetics represents the most important prognostic factor predicting therapy response and overall survival. AML patients are broadly divided into three risk groups based on cytogenetics with favourable, intermediate and adverse prognosis (67-69). Approximately 45% of AML patients present cytogenetically normal (CN) myeloblasts at the time of diagnosis. Risk stratification and determination of therapeutic strategy in CN-AML patients is based on the presence or absence of specific mutations (70). Various mutations that affect oncogenes, tumour suppressors and transcription factors are frequently found in AML. Several of these mutations represent independent prognostic factors, in addition to providing potential therapeutic targets.

1.9 Prognostic factors and therapeutic targets in AML

Mutations in the nucleophosmin 1 (*NPM1*) gene are found in 45-62% of CN-AML patients, representing the most frequent genetic alteration in this subset. The NPM1 protein is activated by phosphorylation and is involved in diverse processes related to proliferation, growth suppression and differentiation (71). Approximately 40% of patients harbouring mutations in *NPM1* also carry internal tandem duplications (ITDs) in the *FLT3* gene encoding the Fms-like tyrosine kinase 3 receptor. *NPM1* mutations represent a favourable prognostic marker, but only in the absence of *FLT3*-ITDs (70). The FLT3 receptor is constitutively activated in approximately 30% of AML patients by ITDs, representing an independent prognostic factor which confers a poor prognosis (72).

Constitutive activation of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), like FLT3 and c-KIT, causes aberrant signaling via intracellular cascades meditated by phosphorylation of signaling proteins. Signaling proteins frequently found to be acitvated in cancers include members of the family of signal transducers and activators of transcription (STATs), the Ras/mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) and the PI3K/AKT pathway (73). The transcription factor STAT5 is constitutively activated in cells with *FLT3* mutations (74) and has been shown to induce transcription of survival proteins like Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL (75, 76). Over-expression of surval proteins frequently mediates chemoresistance and poor overall survival.

Several of the recurring genetic aberrations and deregulated pathways in AML represent potential therapeutic targets. Small molecules that inhibit the activity of constitutively activated RTKs are being evaluated for treatment in clinical trials, and strategies that target down-stream effects like over-expressed survival proteins are being investigated. Detailed reviews on prognostic markers and therapeutic targets in AML have recently been published (70, 73, 77).

1.10 Treatment of AML

Conventional AML treatment consists of induction therapy where a combination of an anthracycline or anthracenedione (daunorubicin, idarubicin, mitoxantrone) and cytarabinearabinoside (cytarabine) is administered. A majority of patients receiving intensive chemotherapy will achieve complete remission, defined as less than 5% myeloblasts in the bone marrow, after initial induction treatment (64, 78). The patients will then receive consolidation therapy with either allogeneic stem cell transplantation or repeated cycles of intensive chemotherapy. Allogeneic stem cell transplantation and high-dose cytarabine represent the most intensive therapeutic approaches, but serious side-effects and high treatment-related mortality make these interventions possible only for patients below 60 years of age (64, 78). Patients up to 70 years of age are often treated with less intensive chemotherapy and patients above 70 years usually receive supportive therapy alone, the median survival of these patients being 3-4 months (64, 78). Overall AML free survival is 40-50% even for the younger patients who receive the most intensive chemotherapy, and the most important cause of death is therapy-resistant leukemia relapse (78). AML relapse is believed to be caused by acquisition of drug resistance and/or failure of the treatment to target AML stem cells (48).

1.11 Programmed cell death

Anti-cancer interventions may be opposed by numerous genetic alterations, which frequently affect pathways of programmed cell death (79-81). The aim in therapeutic interventions is often restoration of the ability of cancer cells to undergo programmed cell death (82).

Programmed cell death was previously considered synonymous with the term apoptosis (83). Apoptosis was pictured to be induced either via an extrinsic (receptormediated) or an intrinsic (mitochondria-mediated) pathway, which converged on activation of cellular proteinases termed caspases (cysteine-aspartate proteinases). The caspases catalyze cleavage of cellular proteins, mediate DNA-degradation and cause cell destruction (84). However, it is now evident that programmed cell death may occur through other regulated sequences of events, with or without the involvement of caspases.

According to the recommendations by The Nomenclature Committee on Cell death 2009, programmed cell death can be broadly divided into apoptosis, autophagy and necrosis (85). The morphological features characteristic for apoptosis include reductions in microvilli, cellular and nuclear shrinkage, chromatin condensation, nuclear fragmentation, little or no ultra structural changes in cytoplasmic organelles and plasma membrane blebbing. Even if caspase-activation is no longer considered a hallmark of apoptosis, it may be necessary for acquisition of the characteristic apoptotic morphology (86).

Autophagy is characterized by the formation of authophagic vacuoles, which are double-membrane vesicles containing cellular organelles, proteins and cytoplasm. Upon fusion with lysosomes the autophagosome inner membrane and the sequestered material is degraded, resulting in recycling of building blocks and generation of cellular energy. The catabolic step marks the completion of the autophagic pathway. Autophagy is triggered in times of nutrient deprivation and also occurs as a means of degrading damaged organelles (87, 88). It primarily represents a cell survival mechanism, but has in addition been demonstrated to mediate cell death (89).

Necrosis was originally considered to be an accidental and uncontrolled mode of cell death, but has now been shown to involve regulated sequences of events (90). Morphological characteristics include gain in cell volume, swelling of organelles, plasma membrane rupture and loss of intracellular contents. An overview of morphological characteristics of the three main modes of programmed cell death is provided in Table 4.

Mode of cell death:	Morphological characteristics:
Apoptosis	Reduction of microvilli
	Reduction of cellular and nuclear volume
	Nuclear fragmentation
	Minor modifications of cytoplasmic organelles
	Plasma membrane blebbing
Autophagy	Lack of chromatin condensation
	Vacuolization of the cytoplasm
	Formation of autophagic vacuoles
Necrosis	Cytoplasmic swelling
	Rupture of plasma membrane
	Swelling of cytoplasmic organelles
	Moderate chromatin condensation

Table 4. Simplified overview of morphological characteristic of the main modes of cell death according to the recommendations by The Nomenclature Committee on Cell death 2009 (85).

Morphological characteristics represent the basis for discriminating between apoptosis, autophagy and necrosis. Various molecular events have been demonstrated in the different modes of cell death, but a set of biochemical critera that may be used to discriminate between them remains to be defined.

1.12 Mitochondria in cell death regulation

Mitochondria are highly specialized organelles consisting of an extensively folded inner membrane (IM), an intermembrane space (IMS) and an outer membrane (OM). The IM contains the mitochondrial respiratory chain consisting of four protein complexes involved in adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production through the process of oxidative phosphorylation. The IMS contains various cell death agonists, and the OM harbours proteins functioning as ion pumps and regulators of its stability. In addition to its prominent role in energy production, mitochondria play a central role in regulation of programmed cell death (91-93).

The stability of the OM is regulated by the Bcl-2 family of proteins, and mitochondrial OM permeabilization (MOMP) results in release of IMS cell death agonists to the cytoplasm (94). IMS proteins include caspase-activators like cytochrome c, Smac/DIABLO and Omi/HtrA2, and caspase-independent factors like apoptosis inducing factor (AIF) and endonuclease G (95). The IMS proteins have been shown to further promote cell death by antagonizing inhibitors of apoptosis proteins (IAPs). Cytochrome c is normally involved in mitochondrial ATP production, but when released into the cytosol it complexes with apoptosis protease-activating factor (Apaf-1), ATP and procaspase-9 to form the apoptosome. A simplified overview of mitochondria-mediated cell death is provided in Figure 4.

The exact molecular mechanism underlying MOMP is still not defined. An increase in permeability of the IM to solutes with molecular masses less than 1,500 Da has been shown to result in loss of mitochondrial membrane potential, mitochondrial swelling and rupture of the OM (96). This process is termed the mitochondrial permeability transition (MPT), and the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (PTP) has been suggested to play an important role (97).

Another mechanism by which mitochondria participate in cell death induction is via production of excess levels of intracellular ROS (91, 92). The mitochondrial respiratory chain contains several red-ox centres that leak electrons to molecular oxygen, resulting in generation of oxygen radicals. The cell converts oxygen radicals into hydrogen peroxide or other ROS, before elimination by cellular antioxidant systems including glutathione GSH and thioredoxins. ROS production by the mitochondrial respiratory chain has been shown to cause damage to proteins, DNA and mitochondrial membranes, resulting in MOMP and cell death (98).



Figure 4. Simplified overview of mitochondria-mediated cell death

1.13 Bcl-2 family proteins and programmed cell death

The Bcl-2 family of proteins consists of anti-apoptotic and pro-apoptotic members involved in regulation of cell survival and death (94). The impact on mitochondrial OM stability and induction of MOMP represent the best studied processes involving Bcl-2 proteins.

The founding member of the Bcl-2 family is the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 protein, which was discovered by characterization of genes involved in the 14;18 translocation found in follicular non-Hodgkin B-cell lymphoma (99). The Bcl-2 proteins contain 1 to 4 conserved Bcl-2 homology (BH) domains and are divided into: 1) anti-apoptotic proteins consisting of BH domains 1-4 (Bcl-2, Bcl-xL, Mcl-1, A1/Bfl-1), 2) pro-apoptotic proteins containing BH domains 1-3 (Bax, Bak, Bok/Mtd) and 3) pro-apoptotic proteins with only BH domain 3 (BH3-only proteins; e.g. BID, Bad, Noxa, PUMA)(94). The BH3 domain represents the region that allows interaction between Bcl-2 family members, and is also found in other proteins that interact with Bcl-2 proteins (100, 101).

The pro-apoptotic Bax and Bak proteins perturb mitochondrial integrity by forming homo-oligomers which function as pores in the OM (102, 103). Anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members antagonize Bax and Bak and stabilize the mitochondrial OM by forming heterodimers with the pro-apoptotic proteins (104). The BH3-only members favour pore-formation by Bax and Bak by antagonizing anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins (105). If the balance between anti- and pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins is shifted towards the pro-apoptotic branch, the result is MOMP, which releases IMS death agonists into the cytosol (94). Bcl-2 family members have also been shown to associate with components of the PTP, which transverses both the mitochondrial IM and OM (97). Pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins like Bax, Bak and tBID have been suggested to induce pore opening by interacting with the voltage dependent anion channel (VDAC), whereas anti-apoptotic Bcl-xL induces its closure (106-108).

The anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 protein is frequently over-expressed is hematologic malignancies, including AML, where it confers chemotherapeutic resistance (109, 110). Bcl-2 and Bax levels have been shown to correlate with spontaneous apoptosis in AML cells *in vitro* (81), and the Bax/Bcl-2 ratio in *de novo* AML patients has been reported to predict clinical response and outcome (79). Targeting of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members, like Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL, represents a promising therapeutic strategy where different approaches are being explored. A range of small molecule inhibitors of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins has been identified by screening of natural compounds and rational design techniques (111). Examples of potent inhibitors include Gossypol, Apogossypol and HA14-1 (112-114). Bcl-2 over-expression antagonizes both apoptosis and necrosis, and it has been shown to inhibit Beclin-1-dependent autophagy when localized in the ER (115). It has been suggested that Bcl-2 suppresses autophagy to levels that are compatible with cell survival rather than cell death (116).

The anti-apoptotic Mcl-1 protein has also been found to be over-expressed in cancers, mediating resistance to cell death-induction (117-119). Mcl-1 degradation is required for MOMP following UV irradiation (120) and therapeutic targeting of Bcl-2 family members has been shown to depend on Mcl-1 neutralization (121). Anti-apoptotic Mcl-1 has also been demonstrated to bind Beclin-1, which contains a BH3-like domain (101, 122).

1.14 Induction of death via cell surface receptors

Cell death may be induced by signals from within the cell (e.g. DNA damage, hypoxia, ROS) or by activation of cell surface death receptors of the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) superfamily of receptors. Binding of extracellular death ligands result in receptor-oligomerization and recruitment of intracellular adaptor proteins and procaspase-8. Together these components constitute the death inducing signaling complex (DISC), where procaspase-8 becomes activated and mediates cleavage-activation of down-stream effector caspases (82). Additionally, caspase-8 cleaves the BH3-only pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family member BID to truncated (t)BID, generating the activate version of this cell death agonist (123). tBID promotes mitochondrial cytochrome c release and connects the receptor-mediated and the mitochondria-mediated cell death pathways (123, 124). The anti-apoptotic Mcl-1 protein has been shown to interact with and counteract the death inducing activity of tBID (125).

Cellular FLICE (FADD-like IL-1 β -converting enzyme)-inhibitory protein (c-FLIP), a catalytic inactive caspase-8 homologue, has been shown to antagonize receptor-mediated cell death at the DISC (126, 127). FLIP primarily localizes to the cytosol and is expressed as three isoforms, c-FLIP_s and c-FLIP_R, representing two short forms and c-FLIP_L, which is a full length version. Most reports have demonstrated that c-FLIP_L inhibits receptor-mediated death, but a potential role in the NK- κ B survival pathway has been suggested (128). A simplified overview of receptor-mediated cell death is provided in Figure 5.

c-FLIP over-expression provides resistance to receptor-mediated apoptosis in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia, multiple carcinomas (e.g. colourectal, gastric, pancreatic and ovarian) and Hodgkin/Reed-Sternberg cells (129-131). Down-regulation of c-FLIP levels sensitizes tumour cells to apoptosis-induction by extracellular death ligands (132-134). Various anti-cancer drugs including doxorubicin, actinomycin D, cycloheximide (CHX) camptothecin (CPT) and bortezomib have been shown to mediate reduced c-FLIP levels (129, 135). Phenoxodiol, a synthetic analogue of a soybean isoflavone, has been reported to inhibit XIAP and c-FLIP, and represents a potential anti-cancer therapeutics (136, 137).



Figure 5. Simplified overview of receptor-mediated cell death and its relation to the mitochondriamediated pathway.

1.15 p53 - stress sensor and tumour suppressor

The p53 protein is a sequence-specific transcription factor that can halt progression through the cell cyle or initiate cell death in response to DNA-damage and other types of cellular stress (138). p53 has a prominent role as a tumour suppressor and is found mutated and inactivated in over 50% of human cancers (139-141). However, p53 is most often wild type (wt) in hematological malignancies, and less than 10% of AML patients carry p53 mutations at the time of diagnosis (142, 143). The prevalence of p53 mutations is found to be higher in secondary AML and increases with patient age (139).

p53 has a short half-life in non-stressed cells due to its interaction with the human double minute protein (Mdm2), which is a p53-specific E3 ubiquitin ligase (144, 145). Mdm2-mediated mono-ubiquitination of lysine residues precedes poly-ubiquitination by p300, which targets p53 for proteasomal degradation (146-148). Stress signals, including DNA-damage, hypoxia and nutrient deprivation, induce various post-translational

modifications (PTMs) of p53 affecting its stability, localization and function. p53 contains multiple lysine, threonine and serine residues that can accept various modifications, which include ubiquitination, phosphorylation, acetylation and sumoylation (138). Phosphorylation of serine 15 and 37 in the N-terminal domain is detected rapidly after stress induction, and has been shown to inhibit Mdm2-mediated degradation, resulting in p53 stabilization and activation (149). Acetylation of lysine residues in the C-terminal domain also inhibits the interaction with Mdm2, and has been shown to enhance p53 transcriptional activity, as well as to be crucial for its transcription-independent functions (150, 151).

When acting as a tumour suppressor, the p53 protein may mediate programmed cell death via both transcription-dependent and transcription-independent mechanisms. p53 has a well known function as a sequence-specific transcription factor that induces expression of pro-apoptotic genes of the Bcl-2 family (152-154). The p53-inducible Bax, Noxa and PUMA proteins promote MOMP and mitochondria-mediated cell death. In addition, p53 has been shown to induce other mitochondrial proteins that favour MOMP through oxidative reactions, like ferredoxin reductase and proline oxidase (155, 156). Furthermore, p53 has been shown to induce expression of the cell surface death receptor 5 (DR5) following DNA damage (157).

Stress stimuli have been shown to trigger rapid trafficking of p53 to the mitochondria, an effect preceding its nuclear accumulation (158, 159). The mitochondrial trans-localization was demonstrated to be induced by Mdm2-mediated mono-ubiquitination and not by phosphorylation or acetylation (160, 161). In the OM membrane p53 interacts with anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins and inhibits their stabilizing function (159, 162). p53 disrupts the complex between Bak and Mcl-1, and has been shown to mediate Bak oligomerization (163). p53 has also been shown to activate Bax, promoting MOMP and cell death induction (164). In addition to direct inhibition of the stabilizing function of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins, p53 may repress transcription of these and other cell death antagonists like the IAP protein Survivin (165, 166). Another transcription-independent mechanism by which p53 promotes cell death is by mediating cell surface trafficking of the TNF receptor Fas (CD95) from cytoplasmic stores (167).

Cancer cells expressing wt p53 still have the potential to evade induction of apoptosis. This is due to the presence of other mutations opposing the death-inducing activity of p53. Different mechanisms have been demonstrated and include over-expression of Bcl-2, Mdm2 and the human papilloma virus E6 protein, loss of the Mdm2 inhibitor p14^{ARF} and

aberrant modulation of p53 by kinases/phosphatases (168, 169). AKT has been reported to contribute to chemoresistance by attenuating p53 phosphorylation, which will inhibit its stabilization and accumulation (170). *MLL* translocations represent a poor prognostic factor in AML, and a proposed mechanism for MLL fusion proteins involves reduced p53 acetylation and stabilization (171, 172).

Activation of p53 and induction of cell death represents a therapeutic target in cancers, which may be triggered in response to radiation- and chemotherapy (139, 173). Novel non-genotoxic strategies for p53-activation are currently being investigated, examples include the Nutlins which are small molecular antagonists of Mdm2-mediated degradation of wt p53 (174, 175). Another promising compound is PRIMA-1 which restores the tumour suppressing function of mutated p53 (176). Several drugs that target the Bcl-2 protein promote MOMP and cell death through mechanisms involving activation of p53 (177).

2. AIMS OF THE STUDY

An organic extract of the natural stimulant khat was previously shown to induce programmed cell death in AML cell lines, while being less cytotoxic to normal PBMCs. Few studies have aimed at evaluating cellular and molecular events underlying khat toxicity, compared khat with a characterized drug or evaluated the effects of khat and known constituents on normal immune cells.

This study was undertaken to:

- elucidate cellular and molecular effects underlying khat-induced cell death in AML cell lines in comparison to a well characterized cancer therapeutics
- investigate early cellular and molecular effects of khat and the khat amphetamines in normal peripheral immune cells
- identify the compound(s) mediating the cytotoxic effects of the khat extract

3. METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

3.1 Preparation of an organic khat extract

Various organic solvents have been used for khat extraction in studies of *in vitro* effects of khat. When preparing an extract of khat we used methanol extraction as in the previous studies on khat cytotoxicity in AML cell lines (62, 63). The protocol used had been shown to produce an extract with appreciable levels of the natural khat amphetamines: cathinone, cathine and norephedrine (62). In short, the khat material was extracted with pure methanol, the solvents evaporated and the remaining semi-solid residue dissolved in dimethylsulfoxid (DMSO) at 0.2 g/ml for storage at -80°C.

In this study, two different batches of khat from the Meru district in Kenya were extracted and used in experiments. The khat grown in Meru is known to be cultivated in the traditional way and has not been treated with pesticides. However, there is an ongoing debate whether the use of such chemicals should be introduced in Meru (personal communication, O.M. Lukandu and S. Kimani; European Science Foundation conference, Linköping, Sweden, 2009). Khat farmers in Yemen are using pesticides and there are rising concerns about potential adverse health effects derived from its use (57, 178).

The first khat batch was harvested and processed in February/March 2005, and the extract was used in the experiments in paper I and IV. The second khat batch was harvested and processed in September/October 2007, and used in experiments in paper II and III. When comparing the toxic potentials of the two extracts they were observed to induce similar levels of cell death in AML cell lines. However, the extract from 2005 appeared slightly more toxic than the extract from 2007 (results not shown). The chromatograms of the two extracts displayed similar profiles, indicating a similar chemical composition and a standardized extraction procedure (Figure 6). The compositions of the extracts were not expected to be identical, since factors like season and variations in growth conditions will influence the chemical profile (7).



Figure 6. Chromatograms of the khat extracts from 2005 and 2007. The circle indicates elution of the khat amphetamines: norephedrine, cathine and cathinone. The figure is based on HPLC analyses performed by K. O. Fossan.

3.2 Experimental concentrations of khat and its amphetamines

The natural khat amphetamines, and in particular cathinone, represent the most well studied constituents of khat. The studies have elucidated the chemistry and pharmacology of the khat amphetamines, and dealt with methods for their detection in blood plasma, urine and hair (15, 16, 18, 19).

In this study, AML cell lines and normal peripheral leukocytes/lymphocytes were exposed to various dilutions of the khat extracts. The experimental dilution designated 200 μ g/ml in paper I is based on the weight of semi-solid khat material dissolved in DMSO (0.2 g/ml). The 200 μ g/ml designation hence represents a 1:1000 dilution of the DMSO-solution of the khat extract. This designation does not provide information about the actual concentrations of khat constituents, and the concentrations of the khat amphetamines were therefore determined using high pressure liquid chromatography and tandem mass spectrometry (HPLC-MS-MS). Table 5 provides an overview of the concentrations and molarities of the khat amphetamines in the khat extracts and in experimental cell cultures.

Cathinone is relatively unstable and is transformed to cathine upon wilting of khat leaves, while being metabolized predominantly to norephedrine *in vivo* (9, 16, 17). Cathinone is therefore suited as a reference substance, indicating the freshness of the extracted khat batch and the stability of the extracted material.

Khat extract	Cathinone (mw 150.1)		Cathine (mw 152.1)		Norephedrine (mw 152.1)	
	mg/ml	M	mg/ml	M	mg/ml	M
2005						
Stock solution	1.5	0.01	1.4	9.2 x 10 ⁻³	0.2	1.3 x 10 ⁻³
10 ⁻³ dilution	1.5 x 10 ⁻³	1.0 x 10 ⁻⁵	1.4 x 10 ⁻³	9.2 x 10 ⁻⁶	2.0 x 10 ⁻⁴	1.3 x 10 ⁻⁶
2007						
Stock solution	2.5	0,017	3.0	0.02	0.3	2.0 x 10 ⁻³
10 ⁻³ dilution	2.5 x 10 ⁻³	1.7 x 10 ⁻⁵	3.0 x 10 ⁻³	2.0 x 10 ⁻⁵	3.0 x 10 ⁻⁴	2.0 x 10 ⁻⁶
3.16 x 10 ⁻⁴ dilution	7.9 x 10 ⁻⁴	5.4 x 10 ⁻⁶	9.5 x 10 ⁻⁴	6.3 x 10 ⁻⁶	9.5 x 10 ⁻⁵	6.3 x 10 ⁻⁷
10 ⁻⁴ dilution	2.5 x 10 ⁻⁴	1.7 x 10 ⁻⁶	3.0 x 10 ⁻⁴	2.0 x 10 ⁻⁶	3.0 x 10 ⁻⁵	2.0 x 10 ⁻⁷

Table 5. Overview of the concentrations and molarities of the khat amphetamines in the two khat extracts and experimental dilutions used in this study.

Maximal serum concentrations following khat chewing have been measured to be, in μ g/l, 58.9 ± 18.8 for cathinone, 71.2 ± 13.9 for cathine and 72.1 ± 12.2 for norephedrine (15). Each of the measured serum values correspond to concentrations in the range of 10⁻⁷ M. It should be noted that the amount of khat chewed by the study participants was one quarter of the amount used by an average chewer, and that the amount chewed varies widely (15). Due to the efficient extraction of the khat amphetamines into saliva, cells and tissues in the oral cavity are exposed to relatively high concentrations of the khat amphetamines (15). Previous estimates of cathinone concentrations in saliva suggest that the concentrations of khat amphetamines used in this study are within the range of concentrations found in the oral cavity (59).

3.3 AML cell lines and normal peripheral blood leukocytes

There are many advantages of using cell lines in studies of toxicity and in pre-clinical evaluation of cellular and molecular effects by potential drugs. These include ease of cultivation, commercial availability, genetic and phenotypic characterization and the possibility of comparing results with previous *in vitro* studies. However, several problems are associated with the use of cancer cell lines, like recurrent mycoplasma infections, cell line mix-ups and the differences in genetic expression between the cell line and the cancer it represents. For instance, most available AML cell lines carry a mutated *TP53* gene, which contrasts with the disease where p53 is reported to be wt in 90% of the patients (142, 143). However, the leukemic cell lines MOLM-13 and MV-4-11 express wt p53 (179, 180), and

were therefore used in paper I and II, where khat-induced cellular and molecular events were evaluated. Further, the difference these cell lines exhibited in khat sensitivity made them valuable when studying the mechanisms underlying khat toxicity.

The p53 protein was studied in paper II, and in order to establish the functional role of p53 activation in khat-mediated cell death, we tested different cell systems with deleted or reduced levels of p53. Experiments were performed with bone marrow cells from p53 -/- mice and their wild-type littermates (181), and we also used MOLM-13 wt and MOLM-13 shp53 cells, where the expression level of p53 had been reduced by the introduction of short hairpin (sh) RNAs against p53 (182).

In paper III we investigated early effects by khat and the khat amphetamines on intracellular signaling in normal peripheral leukocytes. The use of primary cells enabled us to study effects on healthy cells, and in addition provided us with the opportunity to compare effects in subsets of a complex population of immune cells. The study provided information about effects on normal cells, but further studies using multi-parameter flow cytometric analysis could shed light on potential theraperutic effects by the amphetamines, which were shown to attenuate activating protein modifications (4).

3.4 Determination of cell death, viability and proliferation

Induction of cell death in AML cell lines was determined based on fluorescence microscopy of cells that had been fixed and stained with the DNA-intercalating fluorochrome Hoechst (183). Normal nuclei displayed a diffuse nuclear staining, whereas non-normal nuclei appeared more intensely stained, with or without the nuclear fragmentation characteristic of apoptotic cells (85). This method is well established as a routine assay for determination of cell death. Ultra structural cellular features were evaluated with transmission electron microscopy (TEM), representing a principal method used to distinguish between different modes of cell death (85, 90). In paper I, TEM indicated khat-mediated activation of autophagy in MOLM-13 cells, with formation of autophagosomes and cytosolic vacuolization. In paper II, we stained khat-treated MOLM-13 cells with Lyso Tracker® Red DND-99, demonstrating increased levels of acidic cellular organelles, further suggesting involvement of the autophagosomal-lysosomal pathway (184). Compared to AML cell lines, it is difficult to evaluate nuclear morphology in bone marrow cells and PBMCs following

Hoechst-staining. In paper II and III, assessment of cell death in primary cells was therefore based on flow cytometric analyses following Annexin-FITC/PI staining.

Cell viability/proliferation of AML cell lines was evaluated with the WST-1 assay. The assay relies on the activity of complex II in the mitochondrial respiratory chain, which converts the WST-1 salt (2-(4-iodophenyl)-3-(4-nitrophenyl)-5-(2,4-disulfophenyl)-2Htetrazolium monosodium salt) to soluble formazan dye, which can be quantified by measuring absorbance (185). The presence of functional mitochondria will therefore provide a means of assessing viable and proliferating cells. High-resolution respirometry, which measures oxygen consumption by metabolic active mitochondria, was used to complement the results based on nuclear morphology, the WST-1 assay and TEM in paper I. The results demonstrated that by using different methods to evaluate cytotoxicity, it was possible to elucidate the underlying mechanisms of khat-induced cell death. When assessing degree of PBMCs proliferation in paper III, we used a ³H-thymidine incorporation protocol based on the whole blood assay described by Wendelbo et al. (186, 187). Unfortunately, we did not assess the amount of cell death simultaneously as we determined degree of ³H-thymidine incorporation. However, khat was shown to induce cell death after 6 hours of exposure based on Annexin-FITC/PI staining, and the reduced proliferation of PBMCs seen after 4 days was probably in part due to induction of cell death in a fraction or subset of the cells.

In order to evaluate the cytotoxic potential of khat and underlying mechanisms, khat was compared side-by-side with camptothecin (CPT) in paper I and II. CPT is an alkaloid that originally was isolated from the Chinese plant Camptotheca acuminata (188). CPT induces apoptosis in various cancer cells and its derivatives irinotecan and topotecan are currently used as anti-cancer therapeutics (188). CPT mediates topoisomerase I-linked DNA breaks by preventing religation and has been shown to induce p53, Noxa and Mcl-1 (189, 190). CPT and its analogues are collectively termed camptothecins, and represent one of the four main classes of anti-cancer compounds from plants (1).

3.5 Determination of protein levels and signaling events

Protein levels in AML cell lines were determined primarily using one-dimensional polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (1D-PAGE) and Western blotting in paper I and II. The KODAK Image Station 2000R software was used for quantification of Western blots and determination of fold change in protein levels. In paper I, where we assessed the impact of

khat-treatment on procaspase-8 activation, the Western blot analyses were complemented with the use of a colourimetric assay to verify cleavage and enzymatic activation.

When studying the p53 protein in paper II, we used two-dimensional polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (2D-PAGE) in addition to 1D-PAGE. This technique is superior to 1D-PAGE when studying expression of various p53 isoforms and levels of PTMs (191, 192). When analyzing the 2D images, we used an analysis method that was developed to enable correlation of separate analyses and biological variables (193). p53 PTMs were in addition analyzed with modification-specific antibodies and flow cytometric analyses as previously described (4). The results demonstrated that flow cytometric analyses of the different p53 modifications represented a more sensitive technique compared to the 1D-PAGE protein analyses.

Modification-specific antibodies and flow cytometric analyses were also used in paper III, when we analysed intracellular signaling events in normal peripheral leukocytes. A major advantage of this technique over Western blotting when studying proteins is that it enables multi-parameter analyses of intracellular signaling events in complex cell populations. It was therefore the natural choice of method when we assessed signaling events in subsets of the complex population of immune cells. The many advantages and also the challenges associated with this technique have been reviewed by Krutzik *et al.* (194).

4. SUMMARY OF PAPERS

Paper I

Camptothecin and khat (*Catha edulis* Forsk.) induced distinct cell death phenotypes involving modulation of c-FLIP_L, McI-1, procaspase-8 and mitochondrial function in acute myeloid leukemia cell lines

Cellular and molecular effects of khat were investigated using AML cell lines with diverse genetic characteristics. The cytotoxic effects of khat were compared with the cancer therapeutics camptothecin (CPT), in order to evaluate the toxic potential of khat and to elucidate the mechanisms underlying toxicity. The AML cell lines demonstrated varying sensitivities to khat, where some cell lines were shown to be sensitive to khat-induced cell death whereas others appeared resistant. The different sensitivities could not be correlated to endogenous Bcl-2 and Bax levels, or to selected prognostic factors (*FLT3* and *TP53*). Khat treatment had a profound effect on mitochondrial structure and function in MOLM-13, in contrast to CPT. Khat was observed to induce formation of autophagosomes and cytosolic vacuolization in MOLM-13 cells, suggesting activation of autophagy. Khat mediated reduced levels of anti-apoptotic Mcl-1 protein in MOLM-13, whereas both khat and CPT were shown to activate procaspase-8 and induce cleavage of its endogenous antagonist c-FLIP_L.

Paper II

Modulation of p53 isoforms and its post-translational modifications reflect the cytotoxicity of a botanical khat extract

The effects of khat-treatment on induction of p53 PTMs, on p53 isoform distribution and the contribution of p53 in khat-mediated cell death were evaluated. The analyses included the khat-sensitive MOLM-13 cell line and the khat-resistant MV-4-11 cell line. p53 was subjected to phosphorylations and acetylation in both MOLM-13 and MV-4-11 cells, but its accumulation was only demonstrated in MOLM-13. When comparing khat-mediated toxicity in bone marrow cells from p53 -/- mice with cells from normal mice, no protective effect against khat was observed. Similarly, MOLM-13 cells transduced with shp53 were not more resistant to khat-mediated cell death compared to wt MOLM-13 cells. Treatment of the khat resistant MV-4-11 cell line with p38 inhibitors increased its sensitivity to khat. Pre-treatment

of MOLM-13 cells with p38 inhibitors abolished khat-induced activation of autophagy, whereas this pathway was unaffected in MV-4-11. The study indicated that khat acted independently of p53, but suggested that p53 isoform pattern and PTMs could be used to in identification and characterization of chemical probes and potential anti-cancer therapeutics.

Paper III

Natural khat-derived amphetamines attenuate phosphorylation of AKT, STAT6, CREB and p53 in peripheral leukocytes

Multi-parameter flow cytometric analyses of signaling proteins were used to investigate early responses in normal periperhal leukocytes to treatment with khat and its natural amphetamines: cathinone, cathine and norephedrine. The leukocytes were labeled with modification-specific antibodies against stress sensor proteins and signal transducers of various intracellular pathways (AKT, CREB, ERK1/2, p38, STAT1/3/5/6 and p53). The different subsets of the leukocytes: T-lymphocytes, B-lymphocytes/natural killer (NK) cells and the myeloid population (neutrophile granulocytes and monocytes) responded differently to the various treatments. The khat extract was generally observed to mediate activation of signaling proteins, detected as increased levels of phosphorylation and acetylation, whereas the khat amphetamines attenuated activating modifications. Khat resulted in increased p53 and phosphorylated p38, and was observed to induce cell death and reduced proliferation of PBMCs, whereas the khat amphetamines appeared to have a stimulating effect on cell division.

Paper IV

Bio-guided isolation of a major cytotoxic constituent in khat (*Catha edulis* Forsk.) unrelated to natural khat amphetamines

In order to identify the cytotoxic constituent(s) in the khat extract, the extract was subjected to high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC), and the resulting fractions screened for toxicity in the khat-sensitive cell lines HL-60 and MOLM-13. The cell-based screen resulted in the identification of three separate cytotoxic fractions, mediating reduced viability/proliferation and induction of cell death. Both cytotoxic and neutral fractions were subjected to mass spectrometry analyses in order to identify the main cytotoxic component(s). The presence of the khat amphetamines did not correlate with the cytotoxicity

of the khat fractions, and treatment of HL-60 and MOLM-13 with cathinone, cathine and norephedrine further suggested that these constituents were relatively non-toxic. The most cytotoxic khat fraction contained a molecule with a mass of 1452 Da, and the MS fragmentation pattern suggested that the molecule consisted of two central phenylpropanoid glycosides with five attached comaryl-groups. This study is the first to describe a cytotoxic phenylpropanoid glycoside in an extract of khat.

5. GENERAL DISCUSSION

5.1 Specificity in cell death-induction and genetic aberrations

Khat was demonstrated to mediate cell death in a subset of genetically diverse AML cell lines, in paper I and II. The observations of AML cell lines to be either sensitive or resistant to khat suggested involvement of specific death pathways. In contrast to khat, the anti-cancer therapeutics CPT was observed to induce cell death in all cell lines tested, although with varying efficacies. The specificity in khat-mediated cell death has been further demonstrated in preliminary experiments using primary cells from AML patients. The experiments showed that khat caused cytotoxic effects in leukemic cells from 1 out of 4 patients (results not shown).

The AML cell lines used in this study are characterized by various genetic aberrations that could explain the differences in sensitivity. In paper I we concluded that neither the presence of *FLT3*-ITDs nor the mutational status of *TP53*, both important prognostic markers, seemed to account for the different khat sensitivities exhibited by the cell lines. However, the presence of other genetic aberrations may influence the signaling pathways regulated by the Flt3 receptor and the tumour suppressor p53. For instance, *MLL* translocations are found in leukemias of both myeloid and lymphoid origin and represent a poor prognostic factor with adverse effects on treatment response (195). A proposed mechanism for MLL fusion proteins involves reduced acetylation of p53 by p300, which would abrogate its stabilization and activation (172).

The khat-resistant MV-4-11 cell line carries the t(4;11) translocation, the most common *MLL* translocation in acute lymphoblastic leukemia, encoding the MLL-AF4 fusion protein. However, the khat-sensitive MOLM-13 cell line has been shown to expresses a MLL-AF9 fusion mRNA, resulting from a minute chromosomal insertion, ins(11;9)(q23;p22p23)(196). The expression of distinct MLL fusion proteins in MV-4-11 and MOLM-13 could indicate different effects on intracellular signaling. However, the presence of chimeric MLL proteins in both cell lines could also suggest other characteristics as more important in determining the differences in khat sensitivity (197).

MV-4-11 has been shown to carry a *K-RAS* mutation which has been suggested to inhibit the function of the p53 protein (198, 199). Oncogenic K-Ras has also been shown to activate the PI3K/AKT pathway, which could explain the lack of Mcl-1 down-regulation in this cell line as compared to MOLM-13 in paper I (200). Further, oncogenic K-Ras could mediate increased levels of ROS and constitutive activation of p38, which acts up-stream of p53 (201, 202). In conclusion, the AML cell lines used in this study carry a range of genetic aberrations which could provide the molecular basis for the different khat sensitivites that were observed.

In paper III, we observed that khat was less cytotoxic to normal PBMCs compared to the khat-sensitive AML cell lines, in agreement with previous results (62). Khat was shown to induce significant cytotoxic effects after 6 hours, and cell proliferation was observed to be inhibited by approximately 50% after 4 days of treatment. Despite the induction of cell death, the study demonstrated the presence of viable and actively proliferating cells after long-time exposures to khat. However, the study did not assess cytotoxic effects in the various subsets of the complex population of immune cells. The treatments were observed to induce different intracellular responses in the cell subsets, and it is reasonable to expect that the populations would exhibit different sensitivities to khat.

5.2 Modes of programmed cell death

Mitochondria are known to play a central role in induction of different types of cell death, and may mediate death through release of cell death agonists and by generating excess levels of ROS (92). When comparing ultra structural features by TEM in paper I it was evident that khat, in contrast to CPT, caused extensive damage to the mitochondria in MOLM-13. Pharmacological targeting of mitochondrial function has been suggested as a possible therapeutic intervention (203, 204). However, even cells in late phases of cell death, contained apparently intact mitochondria in addition to the damaged ones. This suggested, although impaired, ongoing mitochondrial ATP production which could fuel the energy-dependent processes of apoptosis and autophagy (184). Impaired mitochondrial function may trigger autophagy, as it is initiated in times of nutrient deprivation and other forms of cellular stress (87, 88). Therefore, mitochondrial impairment could have triggered the morphological characteristics of autophagy that were observed in khat-treated MOLM-13 cells in paper I.

Autophagosome formation was observed in cells in early stages of cell death, whereas extensive vacuolization of the cytoplasm characterized cells in late phases (85, 184).

In paper II, the use of Lyso Tracker® Red DND-99 demonstrated an increase in the level of acidic cellular organelles, further indicating activation of the autophagosomallysosomal pathway in MOLM-13 (184). When pre-treating MOLM-13 with specific p38 inhibitors, the khat-induced increase in acidic organelles was abolished. p38 acts up-stream of p53 and the inhibitors could therefore have hindered p53 activation (201). p53 has the potential to trigger autophagy, but is reported to play a dual role, with nuclear p53 inducing autophagy genes, whereas cytoplasmic p53 represses its activation (205). However, p38 has been shown to induce transcription of autophagy genes in response to elevated ROS levels, indicating that khat-mediated autophagy, biochemical events like dissociation of Beclin-1 from anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members and degradation of the p62 protein should be investigated (85).

We previously reported that khat-mediated cell death in HL-60 displayed typical morphological and biochemical characteristics of apoptosis, including nuclear fragmentation and procaspase-3 activation (62). When comparing the nuclei in cells undergoing khat-mediated death, MOLM-13 and HL-60 were observed to display different nuclear morphologies (results not shown). Whereas chromatin was observed to be condensed and localized to the margins of the nuclei in MOLM-13, HL-60 demonstrated characteristic apoptotic nuclei with condensed and fragmented chromatin (62). Autophagy as a mode of cell death is characterized by absence of chromatin condensation, and this observation indicated that several death-inducing pathways could be activated in MOLM-13. Further, the observation of distinct nuclear morphologies indicated that khat triggered different modes of programmed cell death in individual AML cell lines. The morphological differences were further supported by Western blot analyses of khat-treated MOLM-13 cells, which demonstrated limited procaspase-3 activation (results not shown), contrasting with the analyses of HL-60.

It has been demonstrated that the concentration of anti-cancer drugs may dictate the mode of cell death in experimental cell cultures. Drugs may induce necrosis when administered at a high dose while inducing apoptosis at lower concentrations (90, 184). It is therefore possible that the type of programmed cell death and the exact signaling pathway(s) involved could be altered by changing the concentration of khat. It has also been

demonstrated that dying cells may display morphological characteristics of more than one type of cell death (85, 90).

5.3 Potential molecular targets of khat and the khat amphetamines

In paper I we focused on the Bcl-2 family of proteins, important regulators of mitochondriamediated cell death (94). Bcl-2 family proteins are frequently aberrantly expressed in cancer, and over-expression of anti-apoptotic members is shown to mediate therapeutic resistance and poor survival (109, 110). The level of khat-induced cell death was reduced by increased Bcl-2 in the rat acute myeloid leukemia IPC-81 Bcl-2 cell line. This cell clone is transfected to express a *BCL-2* gene of human origin and has been shown to be resistant to pro-apoptotic stimuli (207). In agreement with previous reports, CPT-induced cell death was inhibited in this cell line (208, 209). Khat-mediated cell death was significantly inhibited by Bcl-2 overexpression in the human promyelocytic NB4 cell line. However, there did not appear to be a correlation between khat sensitivity and the endogenous levels of Bcl-2 and Bax in the various AML cell lines. Furthermore, Western blot analyses of khat-treated cells demonstrated that the protein levels of Bcl-2 and Bax remained relatively constant. These observations suggested that sensitivity was dictated by other molecular characteristics and that khat did not target the Bcl-2/Bax proteins directly.

However, khat was shown to mediate significant reductions in expression levels of the anti-apoptotic Mcl-1 protein. This Bcl-2 family protein primarily exerts its function in the mitochondrial OM where it binds and antagonizes pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members. Mcl-1 degradation following UV irradiation has been shown to be required for mitochondrial cytochrome c release and subsequent activation of procaspases (120). It has been reported that therapeutic targeting of Bcl-2 family members and induction of apoptosis depends on neutralization of Mcl-1 (121). In addition to its role in mitochondria, Mcl-1 has been shown to antagonize receptor-mediated cell death by inhibiting truncated (t) BID. tBID is generated by caspase-8 mediated cleavage of BID, and the truncated protein promotes cytochrome c release from mitochondria (123-125). Mcl-1 has also been reported to interact with Beclin-1, an autophagy-promoting protein that contains a BH3 domain (101, 122). BH3-only pro-apoptotic proteins of the Bcl-2 family promote autophagy by disrupting the binding of Beclin-1 to anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family promote autophagy in MOLM-13.

The observations in this study indicate that Mcl-1 may represent a central molecular target in khat-induced cell death. Mcl-1 is frequently over-expressed in cancers and has been shown to mediate chemoresistance (117-119). The plant-derived compound silvestrol was recently shown to induce early reductions in Mcl-1 levels due to translational inhibition, mediating subsequent mitochondrial damage (211). Other plant-derived compounds, like Apogossypol, have also been demonstrated to target Mcl-1 and other anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members when inducing apoptosis (112, 113).

Pre-treatment of HL-60 with the specific caspase-8 inhibitor, Z-IETD-FMK, was previously shown to protect against khat-induced apoptosis (62). In paper I we demonstrated the presence of active caspase-8 in khat-exposed cells, further supporting involvement of signaling via cell surface death receptors. In addition, we demonstrated a relatively rapid cleavage of the caspase-8 antagonist c-FLIP_L to the cleavage product p43-FLIP. This cleavage product has been shown to be generated by activated caspase-8, whereas procaspase-8 cleaves FLIP_L to a fragment of 22 kDa, p22-FLIP. The smaller c-FLIP fragment has been shown to activate NF-kB signaling, hence mediating cell survival (128).

c-FLIP over-expression has been shown to confer resistance to receptor-mediated apoptosis in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia, multiple carcinomas (e.g. colourectal, gastric, pancreatic and ovarian) and Hodgkin/Reed-Sternberg cells (129-131). Down-regulation of c-FLIP sensitizes tumour cells to apoptosis-induction by extracellular death ligands (132-134). Various anti-cancer drugs including doxorubicin, actinomycin D, CHX, CPT, bortezomib, cisplatin and trichostatin A have been shown to reduce c-FLIP levels (129, 135). The anti-cancer therapeutics phenoxodiol, an analogue of a soybean isoflavone, is believed to inhibit XIAP and c-FLIP, thereby facilitating induction of apoptosis (136, 137). The potential of c-FLIP as a therapeutic target has recently been reviewed (129, 212).

c-FLIP down-regulation has been shown to occur in conjunction with ROS generation (213), and c-FLIP cleavage was reported to induce ROS (214). Lukandu *et al.* demonstrated that khat-mediated apoptosis in oral keratinocytes and fibroblasts involved generation of ROS (60). These observations could suggest that caspase-8 mediates c-FLIP_L cleavage in MOLM-13, which then could trigger increased levels of ROS. However, whether ROS may trigger c-FLIP down-regulation or if reduced c-FLIP levels may cause elevated levels of ROS, remains to be further elucidated. Interestingly, it has been shown that treating leukemic cells with inhibitors of ROS elimination and complex I inhibitors, mediates increased



sensitivity to drug-induced apoptosis (203). An overview of the results discussed in this section is provided in figure 7.

Figure 7. Overview of proteins that were affected by khat treatment and possible involved cell death pathways.

In paper III we compared single cell signal responses in normal peripheral blood leukocytes to khat and the khat amphetamines: cathinone, cathine and norephedrine. Whereas khat was observed to induce activating protein modifications, the khat amphetamines attenuated phosphorylation of several signaling transducers including AKT, STAT6 and CREB. This suggested that the khat amphetamines could have potential as inhibitors of signal transduction pathways. In a recent study by Krutzik *et al.* primary splenocytes were used to evaluate inhibitors of intracellular pathways first identified in a

leukemic cell line. The use of heterogenous population of immune cells demonstrated pathway-specificity and in addition identified cell type-specific inhibitors (4).

5.4 Modulations of the p53 protein and cytotoxic effects

We previously reported that khat activated p53 in primary oral keratinocytes and fibroblasts, mediating transcription of p21 and induction of cell cycle arrest (59). When exposed to a higher concentration of khat the oral fibroblasts and keratinocytes underwent programmed cell death, involving ROS and impaired mitochondrial integrity and function (60, 61). This indicated that p53 could be involved in khat-mediated cell death in AML cell lines, and regulation of the p53 protein was studied in paper II. However, we previously reported that AML cell lines without *TP53* and mutated *TP53* were sensitive to khat-induced cell death, suggesting involvement of a p53-independent cell death pathway.

Based on flow cytometric analyses khat was shown to induce phosphorylation and acetylation of p53 in both khat-sensitive MOLM-13 cells and the khat-resistant MV-4-11 cell line. These PTMs are reported to mediate stabilization and accumulation of the p53 protein, by inhibiting Mdm2-mediated ubiquitination and degradation (149, 150). However, accumulation of the full length p53 isoform, p53 FL, was only seen in MOLM-13, whereas the levels of the truncated β/γ p53 isoforms were reduced. A similar p53 isoform modulation was previously reported in AML patients receiving induction chemotherapy (192). The expression of various p53 isoforms represents a means of regulating the transcriptional activity of p53 and the cellular response to stress signals (215).

p53 was shown to induce transcription of p21 and Mdm2, whereas levels of proapoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins like Bax and Noxa remained constant. In addition to inducing transcription of pro-apoptotic genes, p53 is known to have direct death promoting functions, and p53 and Mcl-1 have been shown to have opposite effects on mitochondrial OM stability (163). The results in paper I and II could therefore suggest that khat destabilized the mitochondria through elevated p53 and down-regulation of Mcl-1 in MOLM-13. However, pre-incubation with pifithrin μ , which inhibits the transcription-independent activity of p53 in mitochondria (216), did not affect the level of khat-induced cell death in MOLM-13 (results not shown). This further suggested that khat-mediated cell death was independent of p53 in AML cell lines. In paper II, experiments using p53 -/- bone marrow cells and MOLM-13 p53 knock-down cells demonstrated that p53 was not necessary in khatmediated cell death. Further, protein analyses of p63 and p73 indicated that these p53 family members remained unaltered (217, 218).

The p53 protein was only induced by the death-inducing khat concentration in MOLM-13, and not by sub-lethal dilutions or in the khat-resistant MV-4-11 cell line. In paper III, the cytotoxic khat concentration induced p53 in a subset of normal peripheral blood leukocytes and was shown to induce cell death and reduced proliferation of PBMCs. Together these observations suggested that p53 could represent an indicator for sensitivity to khat and its cytotoxic constituents. We therefore suggested that the p53 isoform pattern and its post-translational modifications could be useful in evaluation of biological effects of extracts, and when screening for novel chemical probes and experimental therapeutics.

5.5 Cytotoxic khat constituents

Alkaloids have contributed the largest number of substances to the modern pharmacopeia, and the vinca alkaloids represent one of the main classes of compounds used as anti-cancer therapeutics (1). The khat alkaloid cathinone was termed a natural amphetamine due to its similarities with amphetamine, and various amphetamines have been shown to induce apoptosis in neuronal cells (219, 220). The alkaloid fraction in khat was indicated to mediate cytotoxic effects in an early study (25), and cathinone was shown to have a mitodepressive effect on dividing cells in root tips, indicating a cytotoxic potential (221). These observations suggested that the khat amphetamines could account for khat-mediated cell death in AML cell lines (63). In agreement with this, we previously observed that the khat amphetamines were cytotoxic to HL-60 cells, and suggested that these compounds were partly responsible for the cell death in primary oral fibroblasts and keratinocytes (59). However, the results in paper IV in this study showed limited cytotoxic effects by the khat amphetamines in HL-60 and MOLM-13 cells, and demonstrated that other compounds were responsible for the cytotoxicity of the khat extract.

There are several possible explanations for the contradiction between our previous results and the findings in paper IV. The HL-60 cell line used in the previous study is no longer available in our laboratory, and it is possible that the new cell clone used in this thesis is slightly different. Cultivation of cell lines is known to represent a selection process, which

ultimately could result in an altered genetic expression profile of the cells. In addition, the previous study was performed in a different laboratory, suggesting that the experiments could have been performed under slightly different conditions (CO_2 levels, batch of FBS etc.) that might have affected the results.

When comparing the cytotoxicities of the khat extracts from 2005 and 2007 in AML cell lines, the extract from 2005 was observed to be most toxic (results not shown). The concentrations of khat amphetamines in the 2005 extract were lower than their concentrations in the less toxic extract from 2007 (Table 5). These observations further suggested that the cytotoxic potential of khat was not due to the content of khat amphetamines, in agreement with the findings in paper IV. However, we observed an increased signal with the WST-1 viability/proliferation assay in cathinone-exposed MOLM-13 cells in paper IV. This could indicate increased levels of cellular ROS, and hence a cytotoxic effect, or reflect onset of cell differentiation (Herfindal, unpublished data).

When evaluating early intracellular responses and cytotoxic potentials of khat and the khat amphetamines in normal peripheral blood cells in paper III, only khat was observed to induce stress proteins, and shown to induce cell death and reduced proliferation. Cancer cells are known to be more sensitive to cell death-induction compared to normal cells when exposed to drugs targeting deregulated pathways (222). Since the khat amphetamines were observed to be relatively non-toxic to AML cell lines in this study, it was not surprising that the normal blood cells appeared resistant. On the contrary, the compounds were shown to stimulate cell division, with norephedrine mediating significant increased proliferation of PBMCs. This observation agreed with a previous report where cathinone was demonstrated to stimulate B-cells (41).

In paper IV, fractionation of the khat extract and bio-guided screening for cytotoxicity in HL-60 and MOLM-13 cells, led to the identification of a phenylpropanoid glycoside indicated to represent the major cytotoxic constituent in the extract. The molecule was suggested to consist of two central phenylpropanoid glycosides with five attached comarylgroups. Phenylpropanoid glycosides are common in plants, and known to possess biological activities including anti-viral, anti-microbial and anti-cancer effects. Coumarin derivatives have been reported to inhibit proliferation of leukemic cells and to induce apoptosis (223). Zimmermann and Zneden reported of a phenylpropanoid glycoside with four p-coumarol esters linked to the sugar moiety, shown to possess anti-cancer activity (224, 225). More than 100 phenylpropanoid glycosides have been identified and characterized, but most plants contain limited quantities of these potential therapeutics (226). However, further studies need to be done in order to fully identify the molecular structure of the cytotoxic khat component(s) described in paper IV.

5.6 Concluding remarks

This study has elucidated mechanisms underlying khat cytotoxicity in AML cell lines, and identified possible cellular and molecular targets with potential within anti-cancer treatments. When compared with the anti-cancer therapeutics CPT, khat was shown to mediate a different and specific cell death phenotype. However, the exact sequence of cellular and molecular events mediating cell death is still not determined. A complex cytotoxic plant extract is likely to activate several cellular pathways simultaneously, which will make it difficult to determine the pathway of cell death-execution.

Analyses of p53 protein protein isoforms and its PTMs were suggested to represent a means for characterizing cytotoxicity by khat and other complex extracts. In contrast to khat, the natural khat amphetamines were not observed to be significantly cytotoxic to AML cell lines or to PBMCs, and were shown to stimultate proliferation of the latter. Bio-guided screening of khat fractions in AML cell lines led to the identification and partial characterization of the main cytotoxic component(s) in the khat extract, which was suggested to be a phenylpropanoid glycoside.

6. FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying khat-mediated cytotoxicity should be further investigated. The molecular basis for resistance to khat should be determined, in order to elucidate the pathway(s) mediating cell death. Khat was shown to activate components of the receptor-mediated death pathway, and studies should assess the involvement of death receptors.

Khat was shown to trigger autophagy, and its role in cell death-induction should be investigated. Further, the involvement of p38 in the autophagosomal-lysosomal pathway and khat-mediated cell death should be explored. The khat-induced modulation of p53 should be compared with other cytotoxic compounds, in order to evaluate whether specific p53 isoform patterns could indicate the underlying mechanisms.

The effects of khat and the khat amphetamines on intracellular signaling in normal peripheral leukocytes should be further studied. Experiments evaluating the duration of the transient protein modifications should be performed, in order to elucidate activation or attenuation of intracellular signaling cascades. In addition, studies should evaluate whether the khat amphetamines could function as specific inhibitors of signaling pathways.

The exact structure of the main cytotoxic compound(s) in khat should be determined. The cytotoxic effects of this compound should be investigated in leukemic cells, in normal peripheral blood cells, in addition to its effects on normal cells of the oral cavity and gastrointestinal tract. To further evaluate the anti-cancer potential of khat constituents more experiments with primary AML patient samples should be carried out, and the compound(s) could eventually be tested in established animal models of AML.

7. REFERENCES

 Balunas MJ, Kinghorn AD. Drug discovery from medicinal plants. Life Sci. 2005 Dec 22;78(5):431-41.

2. Schmidt BM, Ribnicky DM, Lipsky PE, Raskin I. Revisiting the ancient concept of botanical therapeutics. Nat Chem Biol. 2007 Jul;3(7):360-6.

3. Koehn FE, Carter GT. The evolving role of natural products in drug discovery. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2005 Mar;4(3):206-20.

4. Krutzik PO, Crane JM, Clutter MR, Nolan GP. High-content single-cell drug screening with phosphospecific flow cytometry. Nat Chem Biol. 2008 Feb;4(2):132-42.

5. Halbach H. Medical aspects of the chewing of khat leaves. Bull World Health Organ. 1972;47(1):21-9.

6. Al-Hebshi NN, Skaug N. Khat (Catha edulis)-an updated review. Addict Biol. 2005 Dec;10(4):299-307.

7. Al-Motarreb A, Baker K, Broadley KJ. Khat: pharmacological and medical aspects and its social use in Yemen. Phytother Res. 2002 Aug;16(5):403-13.

8. Balint EE, Falkay G, Balint GA. Khat - a controversial plant. Wien Klin Wochenschr. 2009;121(19-20):604-14.

9. Kalix P. Cathinone, a natural amphetamine. Pharmacol Toxicol. 1992 Feb;70(2):77-86.

10. Szendrei K. The chemistry of khat. Bull Narc. 1980;32(3):5-35.

11. Geisshusler S, Brenneisen R. The content of psychoactive phenylpropyl and phenylpentenyl khatamines in Catha edulis Forsk. of different origin. J Ethnopharmacol. 1987 May;19(3):269-77.

12. Cleary L, Docherty JR. Actions of amphetamine derivatives and cathinone at the noradrenaline transporter. Eur J Pharmacol. 2003 Aug 22;476(1-2):31-4.

13. Freund-Michel VC, Birrell MA, Patel HJ, Murray-Lyon IM, Belvisi MG. Modulation of cholinergic contractions of airway smooth muscle by cathinone: potential beneficial effects in airway diseases. Eur Respir J. 2008 Sep;32(3):579-84.

14. Rothman RB, Vu N, Partilla JS, Roth BL, Hufeisen SJ, Compton-Toth BA, et al. In vitro characterization of ephedrine-related stereoisomers at biogenic amine transporters and the receptorome reveals selective actions as norepinephrine transporter substrates. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2003 Oct;307(1):138-45.

15. Toennes SW, Harder S, Schramm M, Niess C, Kauert GF. Pharmacokinetics of cathinone, cathine and norephedrine after the chewing of khat leaves. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2003 Jul;56(1):125-30.

16. Toennes SW, Kauert GF. Excretion and detection of cathinone, cathine, and phenylpropanolamine in urine after kath chewing. Clin Chem. 2002 Oct;48(10):1715-9.

17. Brenneisen R, Geisshusler S, Schorno X. Metabolism of cathinone to (-)-norephedrine and (-)-norpseudoephedrine. J Pharm Pharmacol. 1986 Apr;38(4):298-300.

18. Kim JY, Jung KS, Kim MK, Lee JI, In MK. Simultaneous determination of psychotropic phenylalkylamine derivatives in human hair by gas chromatography/mass spectrometry. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom. 2007;21(11):1705-20.

19. Sporkert F, Pragst F, Bachus R, Masuhr F, Harms L. Determination of cathinone, cathine and norephedrine in hair of Yemenite khat chewers. Forensic Sci Int. 2003 Apr 23;133(1-2):39-46.

20. Crombie L. The cathedulin alkaloids. Bull Narc. 1980;32(3):37-50.

21. Kite GC, Ismail M, Simmonds MS, Houghton PJ. Use of doubly protonated molecules in the analysis of cathedulins in crude extracts of khat (Catha edulis) by liquid chromatography/serial mass spectrometry. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom. 2003;17(14):1553-64.

22. Kalix P, Geisshusler S, Brenneisen R. The effect of phenylpentenyl-khatamines on the release of radioactivity from rat striatal tissue prelabelled with [3H]dopamine. J Pharm Pharmacol. 1987 Feb;39(2):135-7.

23. Elhag Hamid JSMaMME-O. Antimicrobial and Cytotoxic Activity of the Extracts of Khat Callus Cultures. 1999:463-6.

24. Al-Meshal IA, Tariq M, Parmar NS, Ageel AM. Anti-inflammatory activity of the flavonoid fraction of khat (Catha edulis Forsk). Agents Actions. 1986 Jan;17(3-4):379-80.

25. Al-Qirim TM, Shahwan M, Zaidi KR, Uddin Q, Banu N. Effect of khat, its constituents and restraint stress on free radical metabolism of rats. J Ethnopharmacol. 2002 Dec;83(3):245-50.

26. Ali AA, Al-Sharabi AK, Aguirre JM, Nahas R. A study of 342 oral keratotic white lesions induced by qat chewing among 2500 Yemeni. J Oral Pathol Med. 2004 Jul;33(6):368-72.

27. Ali AA, Al-Sharabi AK, Aguirre JM. Histopathological changes in oral mucosa due to takhzeen al-qat: a study of 70 biopsies. J Oral Pathol Med. 2006 Feb;35(2):81-5.

28. Nasr AH, Khatri ML. Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma in Hajjah, Yemen. Saudi Med J. 2000 Jun;21(6):565-8.

Soufi HE, Kameswaran M, Malatani T. Khat and oral cancer. J Laryngol Otol. 1991 Aug;105(8):643 5.

30. Kassie F, Darroudi F, Kundi M, Schulte-Hermann R, Knasmuller S. Khat (Catha edulis) consumption causes genotoxic effects in humans. Int J Cancer. 2001 May 1;92(3):329-32.

31. Raja'a YA, Noman TA, Al-Warafi AK, Al Mashraki NA, Al Yosofi AM. Khat chewing is a risk factor of duodenal ulcer. Saudi Med J. 2000 Sep;21(9):887-8.

32. Al-Hadrani AM. Khat induced hemorrhoidal disease in Yemen. Saudi Med J. 2000 May;21(5):475-7.

33. Al-Motarreb A, Al-Kebsi M, Al-Adhi B, Broadley KJ. Khat chewing and acute myocardial infarction. Heart. 2002 Mar;87(3):279-80.

34. Al-Motarreb AL, Broadley KJ. Coronary and aortic vasoconstriction by cathinone, the active constituent of khat. Auton Autacoid Pharmacol. 2003 Oct-Dec;23(5-6):319-26.

35. Packe GE, Garton MJ, Jennings K. Acute myocardial infarction caused by intravenous amphetamine abuse. Br Heart J. 1990 Jul;64(1):23-4.

36. Graziani M, Milella MS, Nencini P. Khat chewing from the pharmacological point of view: an update. Subst Use Misuse. 2008;43(6):762-83.

37. Feyissa AM, Kelly JP. A review of the neuropharmacological properties of khat. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2008 Jul 1;32(5):1147-66.

38. Al-Habori M, Al-Mamary M. Long-term feeding effects of Catha edulis leaves on blood constituents in animals. Phytomedicine. 2004 Nov;11(7-8):639-44.

39. Adeoya-Osiguwa SA, Fraser LR. Cathine and norephedrine, both phenylpropanolamines, accelerate capacitation and then inhibit spontaneous acrosome loss. Hum Reprod. 2005 Jan;20(1):198-207.

40. Abuye C, Tsegaye A, West CE, Versloot P, Sanders EJ, Wolday D, et al. Determinants of CD4 counts among HIV-negative Ethiopians: role of body mass index, gender, cigarette smoking, khat (Catha Edulis) chewing, and possibly altitude? Journal of clinical immunology. 2005 Mar;25(2):127-33.

41. House RV, Thomas PT, Bhargava HN. Comparison of immune functional parameters following in vitro exposure to natural and synthetic amphetamines. Immunopharmacology and immunotoxicology. 1994 Feb;16(1):1-21.

42. Al-Hebshi NN, Nielsen O, Skaug N. In vitro effects of crude khat extracts on the growth, colonization, and glucosyltransferases of Streptococcus mutans. Acta Odontol Scand. 2005 Jun;63(3):136-42.

43. Al-hebshi N, Al-haroni M, Skaug N. In vitro antimicrobial and resistance-modifying activities of aqueous crude khat extracts against oral microorganisms. Arch Oral Biol. 2006 Mar;51(3):183-8.

44. Chen Q, Espey MG, Sun AY, Lee JH, Krishna MC, Shacter E, et al. Ascorbate in pharmacologic concentrations selectively generates ascorbate radical and hydrogen peroxide in extracellular fluid in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007 May 22;104(21):8749-54.

45. Chen Q, Espey MG, Sun AY, Pooput C, Kirk KL, Krishna MC, et al. Pharmacologic doses of ascorbate act as a prooxidant and decrease growth of aggressive tumor xenografts in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008 Aug 12;105(32):11105-9.

46. Nagase M, Oto J, Sugiyama S, Yube K, Takaishi Y, Sakato N. Apoptosis induction in HL-60 cells and inhibition of topoisomerase II by triterpene celastrol. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem. 2003 Sep;67(9):1883-7.

47. Hassane DC, Guzman ML, Corbett C, Li X, Abboud R, Young F, et al. Discovery of agents that eradicate leukemia stem cells using an in silico screen of public gene expression data. Blood. 2008 Jun 15;111(12):5654-62.

48. Reya T, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF, Weissman IL. Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. Nature. 2001 Nov 1;414(6859):105-11.

49. Wu CC, Chan ML, Chen WY, Tsai CY, Chang FR, Wu YC. Pristimerin induces caspase-dependent apoptosis in MDA-MB-231 cells via direct effects on mitochondria. Mol Cancer Ther. 2005 Aug;4(8):1277-85.

50. Yang H, Landis-Piwowar KR, Lu D, Yuan P, Li L, Reddy GP, et al. Pristimerin induces apoptosis by targeting the proteasome in prostate cancer cells. J Cell Biochem. 2008 Jan 1;103(1):234-44.

51. Costa PM, Ferreira PM, Bolzani Vda S, Furlan M, de Freitas Formenton Macedo Dos Santos VA, Corsino J, et al. Antiproliferative activity of pristimerin isolated from Maytenus ilicifolia (Celastraceae) in human HL-60 cells. Toxicol In Vitro. 2008 Jun;22(4):854-63.

52. Siegelin MD, Gaiser T, Habel A, Siegelin Y. Myricetin sensitizes malignant glioma cells to TRAILmediated apoptosis by down-regulation of the short isoform of FLIP and bcl-2. Cancer Lett. 2009 Oct 8;283(2):230-8.

53. Ong KC, Khoo HE. Biological effects of myricetin. Gen Pharmacol. 1997 Aug;29(2):121-6.

54. Rogerio AP, Dora CL, Andrade EL, Chaves JS, Silva LF, Lemos-Senna E, et al. Anti-inflammatory effect of quercetin-loaded microemulsion in the airways allergic inflammatory model in mice. Pharmacol Res. 2009 Nov 3.

55. Awad AB, Barta SL, Fink CS, Bradford PG. beta-Sitosterol enhances tamoxifen effectiveness on breast cancer cells by affecting ceramide metabolism. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2008 Apr;52(4):419-26.

56. Tabas I. A two-carbon switch to sterol-induced autophagic death. Autophagy. 2007 Jan-Feb;3(1):38-41.

57. Al-Akwa AA, Shaher M, Al-Akwa S, Aleryani SL. Free radicals are present in human serum of Catha edulis Forsk (Khat) abusers. J Ethnopharmacol. 2009 Sep 25;125(3):471-3.

58. Qureshi S, Tariq M, Parmar NS, al-Meshal IA. Cytological effects of khat (Catha edulis) in somatic and male germ cells of mice. Drug Chem Toxicol. 1988 Jun;11(2):151-65.

59. Lukandu OM, Costea DE, Dimba EA, Neppelberg E, Bredholt T, Gjertsen BT, et al. Khat induces G1phase arrest and increased expression of stress-sensitive p53 and p16 proteins in normal human oral keratinocytes and fibroblasts. Eur J Oral Sci. 2008 Feb;116(1):23-30.

60. Lukandu OM, Costea DE, Neppelberg E, Johannessen AC, Vintermyr OK. Khat (Catha edulis) induces reactive oxygen species and apoptosis in normal human oral keratinocytes and fibroblasts. Toxicol Sci. 2008 Jun;103(2):311-24.

61. Lukandu OM, Bredholt T, Neppelberg E, Gjertsen BT, Johannessen AC, Vintermyr OK, et al. Early loss of mitochondrial inner transmembrane potential in khat-induced cell death of primary normal human oral cells. Toxicology. 2009 Sep 19;263(2-3):108-16.

62. Dimba EA, Gjertsen BT, Bredholt T, Fossan KO, Costea DE, Francis GW, et al. Khat (Catha edulis)induced apoptosis is inhibited by antagonists of caspase-1 and -8 in human leukaemia cells. Br J Cancer. 2004 Nov 1;91(9):1726-34.

63. Dimba E, Gjertsen BT, Francis GW, Johannessen AC, Vintermyr OK. Catha edulis (Khat) induces cell death by apoptosis in leukemia cell lines. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2003 Dec;1010:384-8.

64. Lowenberg B, Downing JR, Burnett A. Acute myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 1999 Sep 30;341(14):1051-62.

65. Gilliland DG. Hematologic malignancies. Curr Opin Hematol. 2001 Jul;8(4):189-91.

66. Reilly JT. Pathogenesis of acute myeloid leukaemia and inv(16)(p13;q22): a paradigm for understanding leukaemogenesis? Br J Haematol. 2005 Jan;128(1):18-34.

67. Byrd JC, Mrozek K, Dodge RK, Carroll AJ, Edwards CG, Arthur DC, et al. Pretreatment cytogenetic abnormalities are predictive of induction success, cumulative incidence of relapse, and overall survival in adult patients with de novo acute myeloid leukemia: results from Cancer and Leukemia Group B (CALGB 8461). Blood. 2002 Dec 15;100(13):4325-36.

68. Grimwade D, Walker H, Oliver F, Wheatley K, Harrison C, Harrison G, et al. The importance of diagnostic cytogenetics on outcome in AML: analysis of 1,612 patients entered into the MRC AML 10 trial. The Medical Research Council Adult and Children's Leukaemia Working Parties. Blood. 1998 Oct 1;92(7):2322-33.

69. Slovak ML, Kopecky KJ, Cassileth PA, Harrington DH, Theil KS, Mohamed A, et al. Karyotypic analysis predicts outcome of preremission and postremission therapy in adult acute myeloid leukemia: a Southwest Oncology Group/Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Study. Blood. 2000 Dec 15;96(13):4075-83.

70. Schlenk RF, Dohner K. Impact of new prognostic markers in treatment decisions in acute myeloid leukemia. Curr Opin Hematol. 2009 Mar;16(2):98-104.

71. Grisendi S, Mecucci C, Falini B, Pandolfi PP. Nucleophosmin and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2006 Jul;6(7):493-505.

72. Kottaridis PD, Gale RE, Frew ME, Harrison G, Langabeer SE, Belton AA, et al. The presence of a FLT3 internal tandem duplication in patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML) adds important prognostic information to cytogenetic risk group and response to the first cycle of chemotherapy: analysis of 854 patients from the United Kingdom Medical Research Council AML 10 and 12 trials. Blood. 2001 Sep 15;98(6):1752-9.

73. Matsumura I, Mizuki M, Kanakura Y. Roles for deregulated receptor tyrosine kinases and their downstream signaling molecules in hematologic malignancies. Cancer Sci. 2008 Mar;99(3):479-85.

74. Hayakawa F, Towatari M, Kiyoi H, Tanimoto M, Kitamura T, Saito H, et al. Tandem-duplicated Flt3 constitutively activates STAT5 and MAP kinase and introduces autonomous cell growth in IL-3-dependent cell lines. Oncogene. 2000 Feb 3;19(5):624-31.

75. Irish JM, Anensen N, Hovland R, Skavland J, Borresen-Dale AL, Bruserud O, et al. Flt3 Y591 duplication and Bcl-2 overexpression are detected in acute myeloid leukemia cells with high levels of phosphorylated wild-type p53. Blood. 2007 Mar 15;109(6):2589-96.

76. Lord JD, McIntosh BC, Greenberg PD, Nelson BH. The IL-2 receptor promotes lymphocyte proliferation and induction of the c-myc, bcl-2, and bcl-x genes through the trans-activation domain of Stat5. J Immunol. 2000 Mar 1;164(5):2533-41.

77. Scholl S, Fricke HJ, Sayer HG, Hoffken K. Clinical implications of molecular genetic aberrations in acute myeloid leukemia. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2009 Apr;135(4):491-505.

78. Mayer RJ, Davis RB, Schiffer CA, Berg DT, Powell BL, Schulman P, et al. Intensive postremission chemotherapy in adults with acute myeloid leukemia. Cancer and Leukemia Group B. N Engl J Med. 1994 Oct 6;331(14):896-903.

79. Del Poeta G, Venditti A, Del Principe MI, Maurillo L, Buccisano F, Tamburini A, et al. Amount of spontaneous apoptosis detected by Bax/Bcl-2 ratio predicts outcome in acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Blood. 2003 Mar 15;101(6):2125-31.

80. Hess CJ, Berkhof J, Denkers F, Ossenkoppele GJ, Schouten JP, Oudejans JJ, et al. Activated intrinsic apoptosis pathway is a key related prognostic parameter in acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2007 Apr 1;25(10):1209-15.

81. Ryningen A, Ersvaer E, Oyan AM, Kalland KH, Vintermyr OK, Gjertsen BT, et al. Stress-induced in vitro apoptosis of native human acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) cells shows a wide variation between patients and is associated with low BCL-2:Bax ratio and low levels of heat shock protein 70 and 90. Leuk Res. 2006 Dec;30(12):1531-40.

82. Ziegler DS, Kung AL. Therapeutic targeting of apoptosis pathways in cancer. Curr Opin Oncol. 2008 Jan;20(1):97-103.

83. Kerr JF, Wyllie AH, Currie AR. Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. Br J Cancer. 1972 Aug;26(4):239-57.

84. Enari M, Sakahira H, Yokoyama H, Okawa K, Iwamatsu A, Nagata S. A caspase-activated DNase that degrades DNA during apoptosis, and its inhibitor ICAD. Nature. 1998 Jan 1;391(6662):43-50.

85. Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Vandenabeele P, Abrams J, Alnemri ES, Baehrecke EH, et al. Classification of cell death: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2009. Cell Death Differ. 2009 Jan;16(1):3-11.

86. Hacker G. The morphology of apoptosis. Cell and tissue research. 2000 Jul;301(1):5-17.

87. Baehrecke EH. Autophagy: dual roles in life and death? Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2005 Jun;6(6):505-10.

88. Boya P, Gonzalez-Polo RA, Casares N, Perfettini JL, Dessen P, Larochette N, et al. Inhibition of macroautophagy triggers apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol. 2005 Feb;25(3):1025-40.

89. Shimizu S, Kanaseki T, Mizushima N, Mizuta T, Arakawa-Kobayashi S, Thompson CB, et al. Role of Bcl-2 family proteins in a non-apoptotic programmed cell death dependent on autophagy genes. Nat Cell Biol. 2004 Dec;6(12):1221-8.

90. Zong WX, Thompson CB. Necrotic death as a cell fate. Genes Dev. 2006 Jan 1;20(1):1-15.

91. Bras M, Queenan B, Susin SA. Programmed cell death via mitochondria: different modes of dying. Biochemistry (Mosc). 2005 Feb;70(2):231-9.

92. Ott M, Gogvadze V, Orrenius S, Zhivotovsky B. Mitochondria, oxidative stress and cell death. Apoptosis. 2007 May;12(5):913-22.

93. Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Brenner C. Mitochondrial membrane permeabilization in cell death. Physiol Rev. 2007 Jan;87(1):99-163.

94. Yip KW, Reed JC. Bcl-2 family proteins and cancer. Oncogene. 2008 Oct 27;27(50):6398-406.

95. Penninger JM, Kroemer G. Mitochondria, AIF and caspases--rivaling for cell death execution. Nat Cell Biol. 2003 Feb;5(2):97-9.

96. Tsujimoto Y, Shimizu S. Role of the mitochondrial membrane permeability transition in cell death. Apoptosis. 2007 May;12(5):835-40.

97. Halestrap AP, McStay GP, Clarke SJ. The permeability transition pore complex: another view. Biochimie. 2002 Feb-Mar;84(2-3):153-66.

98. Huang P, Feng L, Oldham EA, Keating MJ, Plunkett W. Superoxide dismutase as a target for the selective killing of cancer cells. Nature. 2000 Sep 21;407(6802):390-5.

99. Cleary ML, Smith SD, Sklar J. Cloning and structural analysis of cDNAs for bcl-2 and a hybrid bcl-2/immunoglobulin transcript resulting from the t(14;18) translocation. Cell. 1986 Oct 10;47(1):19-28.

100. Chittenden T, Flemington C, Houghton AB, Ebb RG, Gallo GJ, Elangovan B, et al. A conserved domain in Bak, distinct from BH1 and BH2, mediates cell death and protein binding functions. EMBO J. 1995 Nov 15;14(22):5589-96.

101. Sinha S, Levine B. The autophagy effector Beclin 1: a novel BH3-only protein. Oncogene. 2008 Dec;27 Suppl 1:S137-48.

102. Korsmeyer SJ, Wei MC, Saito M, Weiler S, Oh KJ, Schlesinger PH. Pro-apoptotic cascade activates BID, which oligomerizes BAK or BAX into pores that result in the release of cytochrome c. Cell Death Differ. 2000 Dec;7(12):1166-73.

103. Degli Esposti M, Dive C. Mitochondrial membrane permeabilisation by Bax/Bak. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2003 May 9;304(3):455-61.

104. Cheng EH, Wei MC, Weiler S, Flavell RA, Mak TW, Lindsten T, et al. BCL-2, BCL-X(L) sequester BH3 domain-only molecules preventing BAX- and BAK-mediated mitochondrial apoptosis. Mol Cell. 2001 Sep;8(3):705-11.

105. Moreau C, Cartron PF, Hunt A, Meflah K, Green DR, Evan G, et al. Minimal BH3 peptides promote cell death by antagonizing anti-apoptotic proteins. J Biol Chem. 2003 May 23;278(21):19426-35.

106. Marzo I, Brenner C, Zamzami N, Jurgensmeier JM, Susin SA, Vieira HL, et al. Bax and adenine nucleotide translocator cooperate in the mitochondrial control of apoptosis. Science. 1998 Sep 25;281(5385):2027-31.

107. Shimizu S, Narita M, Tsujimoto Y. Bcl-2 family proteins regulate the release of apoptogenic cytochrome c by the mitochondrial channel VDAC. Nature. 1999 Jun 3;399(6735):483-7.

108. Rostovtseva TK, Antonsson B, Suzuki M, Youle RJ, Colombini M, Bezrukov SM. Bid, but not Bax, regulates VDAC channels. J Biol Chem. 2004 Apr 2;279(14):13575-83.

109. Pommier Y, Sordet O, Antony S, Hayward RL, Kohn KW. Apoptosis defects and chemotherapy resistance: molecular interaction maps and networks. Oncogene. 2004 Apr 12;23(16):2934-49.

110. Tallman MS. New strategies for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia including antibodies and other novel agents. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2005:143-50.

111. Huang Z. Structural chemistry and therapeutic intervention of protein-protein interactions in immune response, human immunodeficiency virus entry, and apoptosis. Pharmacol Ther. 2000 Jun;86(3):201-15.

112. Kitada S, Leone M, Sareth S, Zhai D, Reed JC, Pellecchia M. Discovery, characterization, and structure-activity relationships studies of proapoptotic polyphenols targeting B-cell lymphocyte/leukemia-2 proteins. J Med Chem. 2003 Sep 25;46(20):4259-64.

113. Wei J, Kitada S, Rega MF, Emdadi A, Yuan H, Cellitti J, et al. Apogossypol derivatives as antagonists of antiapoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins. Mol Cancer Ther. 2009 Apr;8(4):904-13.

114. Wang JL, Liu D, Zhang ZJ, Shan S, Han X, Srinivasula SM, et al. Structure-based discovery of an organic compound that binds Bcl-2 protein and induces apoptosis of tumor cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000 Jun 20;97(13):7124-9.

115. Germain M, Shore GC. Cellular distribution of Bcl-2 family proteins. Sci STKE. 2003 Mar 11;2003(173):pe10.

116. Pattingre S, Tassa A, Qu X, Garuti R, Liang XH, Mizushima N, et al. Bcl-2 antiapoptotic proteins inhibit Beclin 1-dependent autophagy. Cell. 2005 Sep 23;122(6):927-39.

117. Craig RW. MCL1 provides a window on the role of the BCL2 family in cell proliferation, differentiation and tumorigenesis. Leukemia. 2002 Apr;16(4):444-54.

118. Kaufmann SH, Karp JE, Svingen PA, Krajewski S, Burke PJ, Gore SD, et al. Elevated expression of the apoptotic regulator Mcl-1 at the time of leukemic relapse. Blood. 1998 Feb 1;91(3):991-1000.

119. Zhou P, Qian L, Kozopas KM, Craig RW. Mcl-1, a Bcl-2 family member, delays the death of hematopoietic cells under a variety of apoptosis-inducing conditions. Blood. 1997 Jan 15;89(2):630-43.

120. Nijhawan D, Fang M, Traer E, Zhong Q, Gao W, Du F, et al. Elimination of Mcl-1 is required for the initiation of apoptosis following ultraviolet irradiation. Genes Dev. 2003 Jun 15;17(12):1475-86.

121. van Delft MF, Wei AH, Mason KD, Vandenberg CJ, Chen L, Czabotar PE, et al. The BH3 mimetic ABT-737 targets selective Bcl-2 proteins and efficiently induces apoptosis via Bak/Bax if Mcl-1 is neutralized. Cancer cell. 2006 Nov;10(5):389-99.

122. Erlich S, Mizrachy L, Segev O, Lindenboim L, Zmira O, Adi-Harel S, et al. Differential interactions between Beclin 1 and Bcl-2 family members. Autophagy. 2007 Nov-Dec;3(6):561-8.

123. Li H, Zhu H, Xu CJ, Yuan J. Cleavage of BID by caspase 8 mediates the mitochondrial damage in the Fas pathway of apoptosis. Cell. 1998 Aug 21;94(4):491-501.

124. Luo X, Budihardjo I, Zou H, Slaughter C, Wang X. Bid, a Bcl2 interacting protein, mediates cytochrome c release from mitochondria in response to activation of cell surface death receptors. Cell. 1998 Aug 21;94(4):481-90.

125. Clohessy JG, Zhuang J, de Boer J, Gil-Gomez G, Brady HJ. Mcl-1 interacts with truncated Bid and inhibits its induction of cytochrome c release and its role in receptor-mediated apoptosis. J Biol Chem. 2006 Mar 3;281(9):5750-9.

126. Krueger A, Schmitz I, Baumann S, Krammer PH, Kirchhoff S. Cellular FLICE-inhibitory protein splice variants inhibit different steps of caspase-8 activation at the CD95 death-inducing signaling complex. J Biol Chem. 2001 Jun 8;276(23):20633-40.

127. Golks A, Brenner D, Fritsch C, Krammer PH, Lavrik IN. c-FLIPR, a new regulator of death receptorinduced apoptosis. J Biol Chem. 2005 Apr 15;280(15):14507-13.

128. Golks A, Brenner D, Krammer PH, Lavrik IN. The c-FLIP-NH2 terminus (p22-FLIP) induces NF-kappaB activation. J Exp Med. 2006 May 15;203(5):1295-305.

129. Yang JK. FLIP as an Anti-Cancer Therapeutic Target. Yonsei Med J. 2008 Feb;49(1):19-27.

130. Mathas S, Lietz A, Anagnostopoulos I, Hummel F, Wiesner B, Janz M, et al. c-FLIP mediates resistance of Hodgkin/Reed-Sternberg cells to death receptor-induced apoptosis. J Exp Med. 2004 Apr 19;199(8):1041-52.

131. Oyarzo MP, Medeiros LJ, Atwell C, Feretzaki M, Leventaki V, Drakos E, et al. c-FLIP confers resistance to FAS-mediated apoptosis in anaplastic large-cell lymphoma. Blood. 2006 Mar 15;107(6):2544-7.

132. Suh WS, Kim YS, Schimmer AD, Kitada S, Minden M, Andreeff M, et al. Synthetic triterpenoids activate a pathway for apoptosis in AML cells involving downregulation of FLIP and sensitization to TRAIL. Leukemia. 2003 Nov;17(11):2122-9.

133. Nakajima A, Kojima Y, Nakayama M, Yagita H, Okumura K, Nakano H. Downregulation of c-FLIP promotes caspase-dependent JNK activation and reactive oxygen species accumulation in tumor cells. Oncogene. 2008 Jan 3;27(1):76-84.

134. Sharp DA, Lawrence DA, Ashkenazi A. Selective knockdown of the long variant of cellular FLICE inhibitory protein augments death receptor-mediated caspase-8 activation and apoptosis. J Biol Chem. 2005 May 13;280(19):19401-9.

135. Zhao X, Qiu W, Kung J, Zhao X, Peng X, Yegappan M, et al. Bortezomib induces caspase-dependent apoptosis in Hodgkin lymphoma cell lines and is associated with reduced c-FLIP expression: a gene expression profiling study with implications for potential combination therapies. Leuk Res. 2008 Feb;32(2):275-85.

136. Constantinou AI, Mehta R, Husband A. Phenoxodiol, a novel isoflavone derivative, inhibits dimethylbenz[a]anthracene (DMBA)-induced mammary carcinogenesis in female Sprague-Dawley rats. Eur J Cancer. 2003 May;39(7):1012-8.

137. Kamsteeg M, Rutherford T, Sapi E, Hanczaruk B, Shahabi S, Flick M, et al. Phenoxodiol--an isoflavone analog--induces apoptosis in chemoresistant ovarian cancer cells. Oncogene. 2003 May 1;22(17):2611-20.

138. Levine AJ. p53, the cellular gatekeeper for growth and division. Cell. 1997 Feb 7;88(3):323-31.

139. Hollstein M, Sidransky D, Vogelstein B, Harris CC. p53 mutations in human cancers. Science (New York, NY. 1991 Jul 5;253(5015):49-53.

140. Hainaut P, Hollstein M. p53 and human cancer: the first ten thousand mutations. Adv Cancer Res. 2000;77:81-137.

141. Hollstein M, Rice K, Greenblatt MS, Soussi T, Fuchs R, Sorlie T, et al. Database of p53 gene somatic mutations in human tumors and cell lines. Nucleic Acids Res. 1994 Sep;22(17):3551-5.

142. Fenaux P, Preudhomme C, Quiquandon I, Jonveaux P, Lai JL, Vanrumbeke M, et al. Mutations of the P53 gene in acute myeloid leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 1992 Feb;80(2):178-83.

143. Schottelius A, Brennscheidt U, Ludwig WD, Mertelsmann RH, Herrmann F, Lubbert M. Mechanisms of p53 alteration in acute leukemias. Leukemia. 1994 Oct;8(10):1673-81.

144. Haupt Y, Maya R, Kazaz A, Oren M. Mdm2 promotes the rapid degradation of p53. Nature. 1997 May 15;387(6630):296-9.

145. Momand J, Zambetti GP, Olson DC, George D, Levine AJ. The mdm-2 oncogene product forms a complex with the p53 protein and inhibits p53-mediated transactivation. Cell. 1992 Jun 26;69(7):1237-45.

146. Grossman SR, Deato ME, Brignone C, Chan HM, Kung AL, Tagami H, et al. Polyubiquitination of p53 by a ubiquitin ligase activity of p300. Science. 2003 Apr 11;300(5617):342-4.

147. Lai Z, Ferry KV, Diamond MA, Wee KE, Kim YB, Ma J, et al. Human mdm2 mediates multiple mono-ubiquitination of p53 by a mechanism requiring enzyme isomerization. J Biol Chem. 2001 Aug 17;276(33):31357-67.

148. Rodriguez MS, Desterro JM, Lain S, Lane DP, Hay RT. Multiple C-terminal lysine residues target p53 for ubiquitin-proteasome-mediated degradation. Mol Cell Biol. 2000 Nov;20(22):8458-67.

149. Shieh SY, Ikeda M, Taya Y, Prives C. DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of p53 alleviates inhibition by MDM2. Cell. 1997 Oct 31;91(3):325-34.

150. Li M, Luo J, Brooks CL, Gu W. Acetylation of p53 inhibits its ubiquitination by Mdm2. J Biol Chem. 2002 Dec 27;277(52):50607-11.

151. Yamaguchi H, Woods NT, Piluso LG, Lee HH, Chen J, Bhalla KN, et al. p53 acetylation is crucial for its transcription-independent proapoptotic functions. J Biol Chem. 2009 Apr 24;284(17):11171-83.

152. Miyashita T, Reed JC. Tumor suppressor p53 is a direct transcriptional activator of the human bax gene. Cell. 1995 Jan 27;80(2):293-9.

153. Oda E, Ohki R, Murasawa H, Nemoto J, Shibue T, Yamashita T, et al. Noxa, a BH3-only member of the Bcl-2 family and candidate mediator of p53-induced apoptosis. Science. 2000 May 12;288(5468):1053-8.

154. Villunger A, Michalak EM, Coultas L, Mullauer F, Bock G, Ausserlechner MJ, et al. p53- and druginduced apoptotic responses mediated by BH3-only proteins puma and noxa. Science. 2003 Nov 7;302(5647):1036-8.

155. Liu G, Chen X. The ferredoxin reductase gene is regulated by the p53 family and sensitizes cells to oxidative stress-induced apoptosis. Oncogene. 2002 Oct 17;21(47):7195-204.

156. Maxwell SA, Rivera A. Proline oxidase induces apoptosis in tumor cells, and its expression is frequently absent or reduced in renal carcinomas. J Biol Chem. 2003 Mar 14;278(11):9784-9.

157. Wu GS, Burns TF, McDonald ER, 3rd, Jiang W, Meng R, Krantz ID, et al. KILLER/DR5 is a DNA damage-inducible p53-regulated death receptor gene. Nat Genet. 1997 Oct;17(2):141-3.

158. Marchenko ND, Zaika A, Moll UM. Death signal-induced localization of p53 protein to mitochondria. A potential role in apoptotic signaling. J Biol Chem. 2000 May 26;275(21):16202-12.

159. Mihara M, Erster S, Zaika A, Petrenko O, Chittenden T, Pancoska P, et al. p53 has a direct apoptogenic role at the mitochondria. Mol Cell. 2003 Mar;11(3):577-90.

160. Marchenko ND, Wolff S, Erster S, Becker K, Moll UM. Monoubiquitylation promotes mitochondrial p53 translocation. EMBO J. 2007 Feb 21;26(4):923-34.

161. Nemajerova A, Erster S, Moll UM. The post-translational phosphorylation and acetylation modification profile is not the determining factor in targeting endogenous stress-induced p53 to mitochondria. Cell Death Differ. 2005 Feb;12(2):197-200.

162. Tomita Y, Marchenko N, Erster S, Nemajerova A, Dehner A, Klein C, et al. WT p53, but not tumorderived mutants, bind to Bcl2 via the DNA binding domain and induce mitochondrial permeabilization. J Biol Chem. 2006 Mar 31;281(13):8600-6.

163. Leu JI, Dumont P, Hafey M, Murphy ME, George DL. Mitochondrial p53 activates Bak and causes disruption of a Bak-Mcl1 complex. Nat Cell Biol. 2004 May;6(5):443-50.

164. Chipuk JE, Kuwana T, Bouchier-Hayes L, Droin NM, Newmeyer DD, Schuler M, et al. Direct activation of Bax by p53 mediates mitochondrial membrane permeabilization and apoptosis. Science. 2004 Feb 13;303(5660):1010-4.

165. Wu Y, Mehew JW, Heckman CA, Arcinas M, Boxer LM. Negative regulation of bcl-2 expression by p53 in hematopoietic cells. Oncogene. 2001 Jan 11;20(2):240-51.

166. Hoffman WH, Biade S, Zilfou JT, Chen J, Murphy M. Transcriptional repression of the anti-apoptotic survivin gene by wild type p53. J Biol Chem. 2002 Feb 1;277(5):3247-57.

167. Bennett M, Macdonald K, Chan SW, Luzio JP, Simari R, Weissberg P. Cell surface trafficking of Fas: a rapid mechanism of p53-mediated apoptosis. Science. 1998 Oct 9;282(5387):290-3.

168. Oyan AM, Bo TH, Jonassen I, Ulvestad E, Gjertsen BT, Kalland KH, et al. CD34 expression in native human acute myelogenous leukemia blasts: differences in CD34 membrane molecule expression are associated with different gene expression profiles. Cytometry. 2005 Mar;64(1):18-27.

169. Irish JM, Hovland R, Krutzik PO, Perez OD, Bruserud O, Gjertsen BT, et al. Single cell profiling of potentiated phospho-protein networks in cancer cells. Cell. 2004 Jul 23;118(2):217-28.

170. Fraser M, Bai T, Tsang BK. Akt promotes cisplatin resistance in human ovarian cancer cells through inhibition of p53 phosphorylation and nuclear function. Int J Cancer. 2008 Feb 1;122(3):534-46.

171. Pui CH, Gaynon PS, Boyett JM, Chessells JM, Baruchel A, Kamps W, et al. Outcome of treatment in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia with rearrangements of the 11q23 chromosomal region. Lancet. 2002 Jun 1;359(9321):1909-15.

172. Wiederschain D, Kawai H, Shilatifard A, Yuan ZM. Multiple mixed lineage leukemia (MLL) fusion proteins suppress p53-mediated response to DNA damage. J Biol Chem. 2005 Jul 1;280(26):24315-21.

173. Wiman KG. Strategies for therapeutic targeting of the p53 pathway in cancer. Cell death and differentiation. 2006 Jun;13(6):921-6.

174. Kojima K, Konopleva M, Samudio IJ, Shikami M, Cabreira-Hansen M, McQueen T, et al. MDM2 antagonists induce p53-dependent apoptosis in AML: implications for leukemia therapy. Blood. 2005 Nov 1;106(9):3150-9.

175. Vassilev LT, Vu BT, Graves B, Carvajal D, Podlaski F, Filipovic Z, et al. In vivo activation of the p53 pathway by small-molecule antagonists of MDM2. Science (New York, NY. 2004 Feb 6;303(5659):844-8.

176. Bykov VJ, Issaeva N, Shilov A, Hultcrantz M, Pugacheva E, Chumakov P, et al. Restoration of the tumor suppressor function to mutant p53 by a low-molecular-weight compound. Nat Med. 2002 Mar;8(3):282-8.

177. Galluzzi L, Morselli E, Kepp O, Tajeddine N, Kroemer G. Targeting p53 to mitochondria for cancer therapy. Cell Cycle. 2008 Apr 30;7(13).

178. Date J, Tanida N, Hobara T. Qat chewing and pesticides: a study of adverse health effects in people of the mountainous areas of Yemen. Int J Environ Health Res. 2004 Dec;14(6):405-14.

179. Fleckenstein DS, Uphoff CC, Drexler HG, Quentmeier H. Detection of p53 gene mutations by single strand conformational polymorphism (SSCP) in human acute myeloid leukemia-derived cell lines. Leuk Res. 2002 Feb;26(2):207-14.

180. Smardova J, Pavlova S, Svitakova M, Grochova D, Ravcukova B. Analysis of p53 status in human cell lines using a functional assay in yeast: detection of new non-sense p53 mutation in codon 124. Oncol Rep. 2005 Oct;14(4):901-7.

181. Donehower LA, Harvey M, Slagle BL, McArthur MJ, Montgomery CA, Jr., Butel JS, et al. Mice deficient for p53 are developmentally normal but susceptible to spontaneous tumours. Nature. 1992 Mar 19;356(6366):215-21.

182. Brummelkamp TR, Bernards R, Agami R. Stable suppression of tumorigenicity by virus-mediated RNA interference. Cancer cell. 2002 Sep;2(3):243-7.

183. Gjertsen BT, Cressey LI, Ruchaud S, Houge G, Lanotte M, Doskeland SO. Multiple apoptotic death types triggered through activation of separate pathways by cAMP and inhibitors of protein phosphatases in one (IPC leukemia) cell line. J Cell Sci. 1994 Dec;107 (Pt 12):3363-77.

184. Bursch W. The autophagosomal-lysosomal compartment in programmed cell death. Cell Death Differ. 2001 Jun;8(6):569-81.

185. Slater TF, Sawyer B, Straeuli U. Studies on Succinate-Tetrazolium Reductase Systems. Iii. Points of Coupling of Four Different Tetrazolium Salts. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1963 Nov 8;77:383-93.

186. Wendelbo O, Bruserud O. Functional evaluation of proliferative T cell responses in patients with severe T lymphopenia: characterization of optimal culture conditions and standardized activation signals for a simple whole blood assay. J Hematother Stem Cell Res. 2003 Oct;12(5):525-35.

187. Wendelbo O, Nesthus I, Sjo M, Paulsen K, Ernst P, Bruserud O. Functional characterization of T lymphocytes derived from patients with acute myelogenous leukemia and chemotherapy-induced leukopenia. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2004 Aug;53(8):740-7.

188. Basili S, Moro S. Novel camptothecin derivatives as topoisomerase I inhibitors. Expert Opin Ther Pat. 2009 May;19(5):555-74.

189. Avemann K, Knippers R, Koller T, Sogo JM. Camptothecin, a specific inhibitor of type I DNA topoisomerase, induces DNA breakage at replication forks. Mol Cell Biol. 1988 Aug;8(8):3026-34.

190. Mei Y, Xie C, Xie W, Tian X, Li M, Wu M. Noxa/Mcl-1 balance regulates susceptibility of cells to camptothecin-induced apoptosis. Neoplasia. 2007 Oct;9(10):871-81.

191. O'Farrell PH. High resolution two-dimensional electrophoresis of proteins. J Biol Chem. 1975 May 25;250(10):4007-21.

192. Anensen N, Oyan AM, Bourdon JC, Kalland KH, Bruserud O, Gjertsen BT. A distinct p53 protein isoform signature reflects the onset of induction chemotherapy for acute myeloid leukemia. Clin Cancer Res. 2006 Jul 1;12(13):3985-92.

193. Van Belle W, Anensen N, Haaland I, Bruserud O, Hogda KA, Gjertsen BT. Correlation analysis of two-dimensional gel electrophoretic protein patterns and biological variables. BMC Bioinformatics. 2006;7:198.

194. Krutzik PO, Irish JM, Nolan GP, Perez OD. Analysis of protein phosphorylation and cellular signaling events by flow cytometry: techniques and clinical applications. Clin Immunol. 2004 Mar;110(3):206-21.

195. Pui CH, Behm FG, Downing JR, Hancock ML, Shurtleff SA, Ribeiro RC, et al. 11q23/MLL rearrangement confers a poor prognosis in infants with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 1994 May;12(5):909-15.

196. Matsuo Y, MacLeod RA, Uphoff CC, Drexler HG, Nishizaki C, Katayama Y, et al. Two acute monocytic leukemia (AML-M5a) cell lines (MOLM-13 and MOLM-14) with interclonal phenotypic heterogeneity showing MLL-AF9 fusion resulting from an occult chromosome insertion, ins(11;9)(q23;p22p23). Leukemia. 1997 Sep;11(9):1469-77.

197. Corral J, Forster A, Thompson S, Lampert F, Kaneko Y, Slater R, et al. Acute leukemias of different lineages have similar MLL gene fusions encoding related chimeric proteins resulting from chromosomal translocation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993 Sep 15;90(18):8538-42.

198. Lee SH, Lee SJ, Jung YS, Xu Y, Kang HS, Ha NC, et al. Blocking of p53-Snail binding, promoted by oncogenic K-Ras, recovers p53 expression and function. Neoplasia. 2009 Jan;11(1):22-31, 6p following

199. Morgan MA, Dolp O, Reuter CW. Cell-cycle-dependent activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase (MEK-1/2) in myeloid leukemia cell lines and induction of growth inhibition and apoptosis by inhibitors of RAS signaling. Blood. 2001 Mar 15;97(6):1823-34.

200. Araki T, Hayashi M, Watanabe N, Kanuka H, Yoshino J, Miura M, et al. Down-regulation of Mcl-1 by inhibition of the PI3-K/Akt pathway is required for cell shrinkage-dependent cell death. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2002 Feb 1;290(4):1275-81.

201. Kishi H, Nakagawa K, Matsumoto M, Suga M, Ando M, Taya Y, et al. Osmotic shock induces G1 arrest through p53 phosphorylation at Ser33 by activated p38MAPK without phosphorylation at Ser15 and Ser20. J Biol Chem. 2001 Oct 19;276(42):39115-22.

202. Karnoub AE, Weinberg RA. Ras oncogenes: split personalities. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2008 Jul;9(7):517-31.

203. Pelicano H, Feng L, Zhou Y, Carew JS, Hileman EO, Plunkett W, et al. Inhibition of mitochondrial respiration: a novel strategy to enhance drug-induced apoptosis in human leukemia cells by a reactive oxygen species-mediated mechanism. J Biol Chem. 2003 Sep 26;278(39):37832-9.

204. Hagland H, Nikolaisen J, Hodneland LI, Gjertsen BT, Bruserud O, Tronstad KJ. Targeting mitochondria in the treatment of human cancer: a coordinated attack against cancer cell energy metabolism and signalling. Expert Opin Ther Targets. 2007 Aug;11(8):1055-69.

205. Tasdemir E, Chiara Maiuri M, Morselli E, Criollo A, D'Amelio M, Djavaheri-Mergny M, et al. A dual role of p53 in the control of autophagy. Autophagy. 2008 Aug 16;4(6):810-4.

206. McClung JM, Judge AR, Powers SK, Yan Z. p38 MAPK links oxidative stress to autophagy-related gene expression in cachectic muscle wasting. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2009 Dec 2.

207. Seite P, Ruchaud S, Hillion J, Gendron MC, Bruland O, Segal-Bendirdjian E, et al. Ectopic expression of Bcl-2 switches over nuclear signalling for cAMP-induced apoptosis to granulocytic differentiation. Cell Death Differ. 2000 Nov;7(11):1081-9.

208. Tamura Y, Simizu S, Osada H. The phosphorylation status and anti-apoptotic activity of Bcl-2 are regulated by ERK and protein phosphatase 2A on the mitochondria. FEBS Lett. 2004 Jul 2;569(1-3):249-55.

209. Walton MI, Whysong D, O'Connor PM, Hockenbery D, Korsmeyer SJ, Kohn KW. Constitutive expression of human Bcl-2 modulates nitrogen mustard and camptothecin induced apoptosis. Cancer research. 1993 Apr 15;53(8):1853-61.

210. Maiuri MC, Criollo A, Tasdemir E, Vicencio JM, Tajeddine N, Hickman JA, et al. BH3-only proteins and BH3 mimetics induce autophagy by competitively disrupting the interaction between Beclin 1 and Bcl-2/Bcl-X(L). Autophagy. 2007 Jul-Aug;3(4):374-6.

211. Lucas DM, Edwards RB, Lozanski G, West DA, Shin JD, Vargo MA, et al. The novel plant-derived agent silvestrol has B-cell selective activity in chronic lymphocytic leukemia and acute lymphoblastic leukemia in vitro and in vivo. Blood. 2009 Feb 3.

212. Safa AR, Day TW, Wu CH. Cellular FLICE-like inhibitory protein (C-FLIP): a novel target for cancer therapy. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 2008 Feb;8(1):37-46.

213. Kim YH, Jung EM, Lee TJ, Kim SH, Choi YH, Park JW, et al. Rosiglitazone promotes tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand-induced apoptosis by reactive oxygen species-mediated up-regulation of death receptor 5 and down-regulation of c-FLIP. Free Radic Biol Med. 2008 Mar 15;44(6):1055-68.

214. Shim E, Lee YS, Kim HY, Jeoung D. Down-regulation of c-FLIP increases reactive oxygen species, induces phosphorylation of serine/threonine kinase Akt, and impairs motility of cancer cells. Biotechnol Lett. 2007 Jan;29(1):141-7.

215. Bourdon JC, Fernandes K, Murray-Zmijewski F, Liu G, Diot A, Xirodimas DP, et al. p53 isoforms can regulate p53 transcriptional activity. Genes Dev. 2005 Sep 15;19(18):2122-37.

216. Strom E, Sathe S, Komarov PG, Chernova OB, Pavlovska I, Shyshynova I, et al. Small-molecule inhibitor of p53 binding to mitochondria protects mice from gamma radiation. Nat Chem Biol. 2006 Sep;2(9):474-9.

217. Levrero M, De Laurenzi V, Costanzo A, Gong J, Wang JY, Melino G. The p53/p63/p73 family of transcription factors: overlapping and distinct functions. J Cell Sci. 2000 May;113 (Pt 10):1661-70.

218. Moll UM, Slade N. p63 and p73: roles in development and tumor formation. Mol Cancer Res. 2004 Jul;2(7):371-86.

219. Oliveira MT, Rego AC, Morgadinho MT, Macedo TR, Oliveira CR. Toxic effects of opioid and stimulant drugs on undifferentiated PC12 cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2002 Jun;965:487-96.

220. Stumm G, Schlegel J, Schafer T, Wurz C, Mennel HD, Krieg JC, et al. Amphetamines induce apoptosis and regulation of bcl-x splice variants in neocortical neurons. FASEB J. 1999 Jun;13(9):1065-72.

221. Al-Meshal IA. Mitodepressive effect of (-)-cathinone, from Catha edulis (khat), on the meristematic region of Allium cepa root tips. Toxicon. 1987;25(4):451-4.

222. Evan GI, Vousden KH. Proliferation, cell cycle and apoptosis in cancer. Nature. 2001 May 17;411(6835):342-8.

223. Kimura S, Ito C, Jyoko N, Segawa H, Kuroda J, Okada M, et al. Inhibition of leukemic cell growth by a novel anti-cancer drug (GUT-70) from calophyllum brasiliense that acts by induction of apoptosis. Int J Cancer. 2005 Jan 1;113(1):158-65.

224. Zimmermann ML, Sneden AT. Vanicosides A and B, protein kinase C inhibitors from Polygonum pensylvanicum. J Nat Prod. 1994 Feb;57(2):236-42.

225. Takasaki M, Konoshima T, Kuroki S, Tokuda H, Nishino H. Cancer chemopreventive activity of phenylpropanoid esters of sucrose, vanicoside B and lapathoside A, from Polygonum lapathifolium. Cancer Lett. 2001 Nov 28;173(2):133-8.

226. Li Q, Li SC, Li H, Cai MS, Li ZJ. Total synthesis of syringalide B, a phenylpropanoid glycoside. Carbohydr Res. 2005 Jul 4;340(9):1601-4.